A new div-curl result. Applications to the homogenization of elliptic systems and to the weak continuity of the Jacobian

M. Briane

J. Casado Díaz

INSA de Rennes mbriane@insa-rennes.fr

Institut de Recherche Mathématique de Rennes Dpto. de Ecuaciones Diferenciales y Análisis Numérico Universidad de Sevilla jcasadod@us.es

January 12, 2015

Abstract

In this paper a new div-curl result is established in an open set Ω of \mathbb{R}^N , $N \geq 2$, for the product of two sequences of vector-valued functions which are bounded respectively in $L^p(\Omega)^N$ and $L^q(\Omega)^N$, with 1/p+1/q=1+1/(N-1), and whose respectively divergence and curl are compact in suitable spaces. We also assume that the product converges weakly in $W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$. The key ingredient of the proof is a compactness result for bounded sequences in $W^{1,q}(\Omega)$, based on the imbedding of $W^{1,q}(S_{N-1})$ into $L^{p'}(S_{N-1})$ (S_{N-1} the unit sphere of \mathbb{R}^N) through a suitable selection of annuli on which the gradients are not too high, in the spirit of [26, 32]. The div-curl result is applied to the homogenization of equi-coercive systems whose coefficients are equi-bounded in $L^{\rho}(\Omega)$ for some $\rho > \frac{N-1}{2}$ if N > 2, or in $L^1(\Omega)$ if N = 2. It also allows us to prove a weak continuity result for the Jacobian for bounded sequences in $W^{1,N-1}(\Omega)$ satisfying an alternative assumption to the L^{∞} -strong estimate of [8]. Two examples show the sharpness of the results.

Keywords: div-curl, homogenization, elliptic systems, non equi-bounded coefficients, Γ-convergence, H-convergence, Jacobian, weak continuity.

Mathematics Subject Classification: 35B27, 74Q15

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	The div-curl result	7
	2.1 The case: $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} < 1 + \frac{1}{N-1}$	7
	2.2 Proof of Theorem 2.1	11
	2.3 The limit case: $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1 + \frac{1}{N-1}$	16
	2.4 A counterexample	23
3	Applications	23
	3.1 Homogenization of systems with non equi-bounded coefficients	23
	3.1.1 A Γ -convergence approach	23
	3.1.2 A H-convergence approach	34
	3.2 Weak continuity of the Jacobian	34

1 Introduction

In the early 1970s Murat and Tartar noticed that for any sequence σ_n weakly converging to σ in $L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $N \geq 2$ and $p \in (1, \infty)$, and any sequence u_n converging weakly to u in $W^{1,p'}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that $\operatorname{div} \sigma_n$ converges strongly in $W^{-1,p}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, a simple integration by parts leads to the convergence

$$\sigma_n \cdot \nabla u_n \rightharpoonup \sigma \cdot \nabla u \quad \text{in } \mathscr{D}'(\mathbb{R}^N).$$
 (1.1)

They extended this remark to the more general case where ∇u_n is replaced by any sequence η_n such that $\operatorname{curl} \eta_n$ is compact in $W_{\operatorname{loc}}^{-1,p'}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ (see [37]). The successful compensated compactness theory was born with a fruitful application to homogenization theory [36].

Actually, the elementary div-curl (1.1) contains hidden informations. Indeed, Coifman et al. proved that if div σ is in $W_{\text{loc}}^{-1,s}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with s > p, then $\sigma \cdot \nabla u$ belongs to the Hardy space $\mathscr{H}_{\text{loc}}^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$. More recently, Conti et al. [21] obtained a new div-curl result relaxing the compensation conditions on div σ_n and curl η_n to the space $W_{\text{loc}}^{-1,1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, but assuming that the sequence $\sigma_n \cdot \eta_n$ is equi-integrable.

On the other hand, in the spirit of [36, 37] and using an appropriate Hodge decomposition of vector-valued fields, it was proved in [15] that, given a bounded open set Ω of \mathbb{R}^N , $N \geq 2$, if $p, q \in [1, \infty)$ satisfy

$$p, q \ge 1, \quad \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} \le 1 + \frac{1}{N},$$
 (1.2)

and if σ_n , η_n satisfy the convergences

$$\sigma_n \rightharpoonup \sigma \begin{cases} L^p(\Omega)^N, & \text{if } p > 1 \\ \mathscr{M}(\Omega)^N *, & \text{if } p = 1, \end{cases} \qquad \eta_n \rightharpoonup \eta \begin{cases} L^q(\Omega)^N, & \text{if } q > 1 \\ \mathscr{M}(\Omega)^N *, & \text{if } q = 1, \end{cases}$$
(1.3)

and the compensation conditions

$$\operatorname{div} \sigma_n \to \operatorname{div} \sigma \begin{cases} W^{-1,q'}(\Omega)^N, & \text{if } q > 1 \\ L^N(\Omega)^N, & \text{if } q = 1, \end{cases} \quad \operatorname{curl} \eta_n \to \operatorname{curl} \eta \begin{cases} W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)^N, & \text{if } p > 1 \\ L^N(\Omega)^N, & \text{if } p = 1, \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

then there exist two sequences x_i in Ω and c_i in \mathbb{R}^N such that

$$\sigma_n \cdot \eta_n \rightharpoonup \sigma \cdot \eta + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{div} \left(c_j \, \delta_{x_j} \right) \quad \text{in } \mathscr{D}'(\Omega).$$
 (1.5)

In this paper we generalize the div-curl result of [37, 43, 15] assuming instead of (1.2) the inequality

$$\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} \le 1 + \frac{1}{N-1}.\tag{1.6}$$

The statement type is given by the following result which is refined in Theorem 2.1 (strict inequality in (1.6)) below:

Theorem 1.1. Assume that (1.6) holds with the strict inequality. Consider two sequences σ_n in $L^p(\Omega)^N$ and η_n in $L^{p'}(\Omega)^N$ satisfying convergences (1.3), (1.4) with $\sigma \in L^p(\Omega)^N$ and $\eta \in L^{p'}(\Omega)^N$, and such that

$$\sigma_n \cdot \eta_n \text{ converges weakly in } W^{-1,1}(\Omega)^N.$$
 (1.7)

Then, the weak limit of $\sigma_n \cdot \eta_n$ is $\sigma \cdot \eta$.

When equality holds in (1.6), Theorem 1.1 is also extended to Theorem 2.9 (case p > 1) and to Theorem 2.11 (case p = 1), under some equi-integrability assumption on $|\eta_n|$. Moreover, a counterexample to the div-curl result is given when this equi-integrability condition does not hold (see Proposition 2.15 below).

The proof of Theorem 1.1 differs notably from the ones of [37, 43, 15]. In fact, the improvement from the bound 1/N to the bound 1/(N-1) is connected to the imbedding, related to the unit sphere S_{N-1} of \mathbb{R}^N , of $W^{1,q}(S_{N-1})$ into $L^{p'}(S_{N-1})$, which is compact when inequality (1.6) is strict. Our approach is inspired by both

- De Giorgi's method [26] for matching boundary values in Γ-convergence, which consists in finding suitable annuli where the energy does not concentrate,
- Manfredi's method [32] for proving the continuity of a weakly monotone (*i.e.* satisfying a maximum principle) function in $W^{1,m}$, with m > N 1, which consists in selecting spheres on which the gradient of the function is not too high.^a

Then, the key ingredient of the proof of Theorem 1.1 is given by the following result refined in Lemma 2.6 below:

Lemma 1.2. Let $N \ge 2$, $0 < R_0 < R$, and q > 1. Consider a sequence u_n which converges weakly to u in $W^{1,q}(\{R_0 < |x| < R\})$. Then, there exists a closed set $U_n \subset (R_0, R)$, whose measure is arbitrarily close to $R - R_0$, such that

$$\begin{cases} \sup_{r \in U_n} \left(\int_{S_{N-1}} |u_n(ry) - u(ry)|^s \, ds(y) \right) \to 0, & 1 \le s < q_{N-1}^* = \left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{N-1} \right)^{-1}, & \text{if } q < N - 1 \\ \sup_{r \in U_n} \left(\int_{S_{N-1}} |u_n(ry) - u(ry)|^s \, ds(y) \right) \to 0, & 1 \le s < \infty & \text{if } q = N - 1 \\ \sup_{r \in U_n} \left(\sup_{y \in S_{N-1}} |u_n(ry) - u(ry)| \right) \to 0, & \text{if } q > N - 1. \end{cases}$$

Lemma 1.2 means that one can select a n-dependent set U_n of annuli on which a strong estimate of $u_n - u$ holds. This set is built from not too high values of $|\nabla u_n|$ (see the definition (2.26) of U_n). Lemma 1.2 also extends to Lemma 2.13 in connection with Theorem 2.9 (critical case $s = q_{N-1}^*$), and to Lemma 2.14 (case q = N-1, with a uniform convergence result) in connection with Theorem 2.11, under a suitable equi-integrability assumption on $|\nabla u_n|$.

Beyond H-convergence for sequences of conductivity equations [36], which is historically linked to the classical div-curl lemma of [37], Tartar [43] extended its application field to various pde's including the hyperbolic equations. In the spirit of H-convergence, the div-curl approach was applied to linear elasticity in [25]. The seminal works [42, 36] on homogenization of elliptic problems are based on the boundedness (from below and above) of the sequences of coefficients involving in the equations. More recently, the boundedness assumption has been relaxed thanks to an appropriate extension of the div-curl lemma in conductivity [9, 11, 15], and in elasticity [10]. In these works the dimension is N = 2, and the sequences of coefficients are assumed to be uniformly bounded in L^1 . The L^1 -boundedness condition has been removed

^aManfredi's method was used in [13] to derive, thanks to the maximum principle, a uniform convergence result for sequences of solutions to elliptic equations with non equi-bounded coefficients. But of course this approach cannot be extended to elliptic systems.

in the setting of the homogenization of linear and nonlinear scalar problems [12, 7, 13] using the maximum principle in an essential way. Up to our knowledge, except the recent approach of [14] which is however based on a quite restrictive equi-integrability condition, the only available tool for deriving compactness results in the homogenization of sequences of systems with L^1 -bounded coefficients remains the div-curl lemma. So, the linear elasticity result [10] shows that in dimension two the violation of the L^1 -bound may induce second gradient terms in the homogenized equation. This anomalous behavior was previously observed in [38] in dimension three with a two-scale approach. In fact, the situation in three-dimensional linear elasticity is much more intricate since the closure set of equations is very large as shown in [18], while it is limited by the Beurling-Deny representation formula [4] in the conductivity case [17]. In view of the compactness result of [19] versus the nonlocal effects obtained in [27, 29, 3, 16, 17] and naturally connected with the Beurling-Deny formula by [34], the good assumption to avoid any loss of compactness in the homogenization process seems to be, at least in the scalar case and in any dimension, the equi-boundedness and the equi-integrability in L^1 of the sequences of coefficients.

In this context and as a by-product of the div-curl result of Theorem 1.1 and its extensions, we have the following homogenization result which is refined in Theorem 3.1 (with a Γ -convergence approach), and in Theorem 3.5 (with a H-convergence approach) below:

Theorem 1.3. Let Ω be a bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^N , $N \geq 2$, and let M be a positive integer. Consider a non-negative symmetric tensor-valued function \mathbb{A}_n in $L^{\infty}(\Omega)^{(M \times N)^2}$ such that there exists a constant $\alpha > 0$ satisfying

$$\alpha \int_{\Omega} |Dv|^2 dx \le \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_n Dv : Dv dx, \quad \forall v \in H_0^1(\Omega)^M, \tag{1.8}$$

and such that

$$|\mathbb{A}_n|$$
 is bounded in
$$\begin{cases} L^1(\Omega), & \text{if } N=2\\ L^{\rho}(\Omega), & \text{with } \rho > \frac{N-1}{2}, & \text{if } N>2. \end{cases}$$
 (1.9)

Then, there exist a subsequence of n, still denoted by n, and a non-negative symmetric tensor-valued $A \in \mathcal{M}(\Omega)^{(M \times N)^2}$ if N = 2, or $A \in L^{\rho}(\Omega)^{(M \times N)^2}$ if N > 2, satisfying (1.8), such that the following Γ -convergence for the $L^2(\Omega)^M$ strong topology holds

$$\begin{cases} \left(v \in H_0^1(\Omega)^M \mapsto \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_n Dv : Dv \, dx\right) \xrightarrow{\Gamma} \left(v \in C_0^1(\Omega)^M \mapsto \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A} Dv : Dv \, dx\right), & \text{if } N = 2\\ \left(v \in H_0^1(\Omega)^M \mapsto \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_n Dv : Dv \, dx\right) \xrightarrow{\Gamma} \left(v \in W_0^{1,\frac{2\rho}{\rho-1}}(\Omega)^M \mapsto \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A} Dv : Dv \, dx\right), & \text{if } N > 2. \end{cases}$$

Note that in dimension three the result of Theorem 1.3 holds if the sequence $|\mathbb{A}_n|$ is bounded in some L^{ρ} space with $\rho > 1$. This condition is stronger than the equi-integrability of the coefficients, but is not so far from it. Alternatively, assuming that \mathbb{A}_n is close in L^1 -norm to an equi-coercive and equi-bounded sequence \mathbb{B}^n , we have obtained in [14] a similar compactness result by a quite different approach. Also note that the two-dimensional case of Theorem 1.3 includes the homogenization results of [11, 12, 10].

The classical div-curl lemma and more generally the compensated compactness has been successively used for weak continuity problems [36, 37, 45], and in particular for the weak continuity of the Jacobian in connection with the calculus of variations [33, 39, 1, 2, 22].

The divergence formulation of the Jacobian, denoted as Det, was originally established by Morrey [33], and leads to the classical weak continuity result (see, e.g., [1, 23, 30, 28]): for any regular open bounded set Ω of \mathbb{R}^N , $N \geq 2$, and for any $s > \frac{N^2}{N+1}$,

$$u_n \rightharpoonup u \text{ in } W^{1,s}(\Omega)^N \Rightarrow \operatorname{Det}(Du_n) \rightharpoonup \operatorname{Det}(Du) \text{ in } \mathscr{D}'(\Omega).$$
 (1.10)

Up to our knowledge, the most recent improvement of (1.10) is due to Brezis and Nguyen [8] who have obtained the weak continuity result

$$\begin{cases}
 u_n \rightharpoonup u & \text{in } W^{1,N-1}(\Omega)^N \\
 u_n \to u & \text{in } L^{\infty}(\Omega)^N, & \text{if } N = 2 \\
 u_n \to u & \text{in } BMO(\Omega)^N, & \text{if } N \ge 3
 \end{cases}
 \Rightarrow \operatorname{Det}(Du_n) \rightharpoonup \operatorname{Det}(Du) \text{ in } \mathscr{D}'(\Omega), \quad (1.11)$$

where the refinement in *BMO* is partly based on the div-curl approach of [20]. Actually, Brezis and Nguyen prove a delicate estimate (see [8], Theorem 1) which implies convergence (1.11).

Using the div-curl result of Theorem 2.11 we prove the alternative weak continuity convergence of the Jacobian in $W^{1,N-1}$ under different assumptions (see Theorem 3.8 below for a refined statement):

Theorem 1.4. Let Ω be a bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^N , with $N \geq 2$. Consider a sequence of vector-valued functions $u_n = (u_n^1, \dots, u_n^N)$ in $W^{1,N}(\Omega)^M$ satisfying

$$u_n \rightharpoonup u = (u^1, \dots, u^N) \quad \begin{cases} in \ W^{1,N-1}(\Omega)^N, & if \ N > 2 \\ in \ BV(\Omega)^N *, & if \ N = 2, \end{cases}$$
 (1.12)

$$Det(Du_n) \rightharpoonup \mu \quad in \ W^{-1,1}(\Omega). \tag{1.13}$$

Also assume that ∇u_n^1 is equi-integrable in the Lorentz space $L^{N-1,1}(\Omega)^N$. Then, the limit distribution μ is given by the variational formulation

$$\langle \mu, \psi \rangle = -\int_{\Omega} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{k} \cot(Du)_{1j} \,\partial_{j} \psi \, u^{1} \right) dx,$$
 (1.14)

for a suitable dense set of radial functions ψ in $W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega)$.

Example 3.10 below shows that the loss of equi-integrability for ∇u_n^1 may induce a concentration effect in the weak convergence of the Jacobian. This example also illustrates the sharpness of the weak continuity result of [8].

Notations

- M is a positive integer, and N is an integer ≥ 2 .
- (e_1, \ldots, e_N) denotes the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^N , and (f_1, \ldots, f_M) the one of \mathbb{R}^M .
- : denotes the scalar product in $\mathbb{R}^{M\times N}$, i.e. $\xi:\eta=\mathrm{tr}\left(\xi^{T}\eta\right)$ for any $\xi,\eta\in\mathbb{R}^{M\times N}$.
- B_R denotes an open ball of \mathbb{R}^N centered at the origin zero and of radius R > 0. The ball centered at the point x_0 and of radius R is denoted by $B(x_0, R)$.
- For $0 < R_0 < R$, $C(R_0, R)$ denotes the open crown $B_R \setminus \bar{B}_{R_0}$.

- S_{N-1} denotes the unit sphere of \mathbb{R}^N for any integer $N \geq 2$.
- For any $p \in [1, \infty], p' := \frac{p}{p-1} \in [1, \infty]$ denotes the conjugate exponent of p.
- For any $q \in [1, N)$, $q_N^* := \left(\frac{1}{q} \frac{1}{N}\right)^{-1}$ denotes the critical Sobolev exponent in dimension N.
- |E| denotes Lebesgue's measure of any measurable set $E \subset \mathbb{R}^N$. When E is a subset of a manifold of \mathbb{R}^N of dimension $P \leq N$, |E| is also used to denote the corresponding Hausdorff measure of order P.
- 1_E denotes the characteristic function of any set E.
- ∇u denotes the gradient of the scalar distribution $u: \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$.
- Du denotes the Jacobian matrix of the vector-valued distribution $u: \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^M$, i.e.

$$Du := \left[\frac{\partial u_i}{\partial x_j}\right]_{1 \le i \le M, 1 \le j \le N} \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times N}.$$

- div denotes the classical divergence operator acting on the vector-valued distributions.
- Div denotes the vector-valued differential operator taking the divergence of each row of a matrix-valued distribution,

$$\operatorname{Div} V := \left[\sum_{j=1}^{N} \frac{\partial V_{ij}}{\partial x_{j}} \right]_{1 \leq i \leq M}, \quad \text{for } V : \mathbb{R}^{N} \to \mathbb{R}^{M \times N}.$$

- curl denotes the classical curl operator acting on the vector-valued distributions.
- Curl denotes the vector-valued differential operator taking the curl of each row of a matrix-valued distribution,

$$\operatorname{Curl} V := \left[\frac{\partial V_{ij}}{\partial x_k} - \frac{\partial V_{ik}}{\partial x_j} \right]_{1 \le i \le M, \ 1 \le j, k \le N}, \quad \text{for } V : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^{M \times N}.$$

- $\mathcal{M}(X)$ denotes the set of the bounded Radon measures on a locally compact set X.
- For a bounded open set Ω of \mathbb{R}^N , $W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega)$ denotes the space of the functions in $W^{1,\infty}(\Omega)$ which are equal to 0 on $\partial\Omega$.
- $W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$ denotes the set composed of the divergences of functions in $L^1(\Omega)^N$. We can check that the dual of $W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$ is $W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega)$ (using essentially the fact that the dual of $L^1(\Omega)$ is $L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, and any vector-valued distribution which vanishes on the divergence free functions is a gradient). Hence, the weak convergence of μ_n to μ in $W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$ reads as

$$\langle \mu_n, \varphi \rangle \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \langle \mu, \varphi \rangle, \quad \forall \varphi \in W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega).$$
 (1.15)

Note that the weak-* convergence in $\mathcal{M}(\Omega)$ implies the weak convergence in $W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$.

2 The div-curl result

2.1 The case: $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} < 1 + \frac{1}{N-1}$

We have the following div-curl result:

Theorem 2.1. Let Ω be a bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^N , with $N \geq 2$, and let $p, q \geq 1$ such that

$$\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} < 1 + \frac{1}{N-1}.\tag{2.1}$$

Consider two sequences of matrix-valued functions σ_n and η_n such that

$$\exists s_n \in [p, q'], \quad \sigma_n \in L^{s_n}(\Omega)^{M \times N} \quad and \quad \eta_n \in L^{s'_n}(\Omega)^{M \times N}, \tag{2.2}$$

$$\sigma_n : \eta_n \rightharpoonup \mu \quad weakly \ in \ W^{-1,1}(\Omega).$$
 (2.3)

Then, we have the following results according to the cases p, q > 1, q = 1 or p = 1:

• Assume that p, q > 1, and that

$$\begin{cases}
\sigma_n \rightharpoonup \sigma & \text{in } L^p(\Omega)^{M \times N} \\
\eta_n \rightharpoonup \eta & \text{in } L^q(\Omega)^{M \times N},
\end{cases}$$
(2.4)

$$\begin{cases}
\operatorname{Div} \sigma_n \to \operatorname{Div} \sigma & in \ W^{-1,q'}(\Omega)^M \\
\operatorname{Curl} \eta_n \to \operatorname{Curl} \eta & in \ W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)^{M \times N \times N}.
\end{cases}$$
(2.5)

If the limits σ and η satisfy condition (2.2), then

$$\mu = \sigma : \eta. \tag{2.6}$$

Otherwise, for any function u satisfying

$$u \in W^{1,q}(\Omega)^M \quad and \quad \eta - Du \in L^{p'}_{loc}(\Omega)^{M \times N},$$
 (2.7)

the limit μ satisfies the weak formulation

$$\begin{cases}
\forall B(x_0, R) \in \Omega, \ \forall \varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0, \infty), \ \text{with supp } \varphi \subset [0, R], \\
\langle \mu, \psi \rangle = -\langle \text{Div } \sigma, u\psi \rangle + \int_{B(x_0, R)} \sigma : \left[\eta \psi - D(u\psi) \right] dx, \\
\text{where } \psi(x) := \varphi(|x - x_0|).
\end{cases} \tag{2.8}$$

• Assume that q = 1, and that

$$\begin{cases}
\sigma_n \rightharpoonup \sigma & \text{in } L^p(\Omega)^{M \times N} \\
\eta_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \eta & \text{in } \mathcal{M}(\Omega)^{M \times N},
\end{cases}$$
(2.9)

$$\begin{cases}
\operatorname{Div} \sigma_n \to \operatorname{Div} \sigma & \text{in } L^N(\Omega)^M \\
\operatorname{Curl} \eta_n \to \operatorname{Curl} \eta & \text{in } W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)^{M \times N \times N}.
\end{cases}$$
(2.10)

If the limits σ and η satisfy condition (2.2), then equality (2.6) holds.

Otherwise, for any function u satisfying (2.7), the limit μ still satisfies the weak formulation (2.8).

• Assume that p = 1, and that

$$\begin{cases}
\sigma_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \sigma & in \, \mathcal{M}(\Omega)^{M \times N} \\
\eta_n \rightharpoonup \eta & in \, L^q(\Omega)^{M \times N},
\end{cases}$$
(2.11)

$$\begin{cases}
\operatorname{Div} \sigma_n \to \operatorname{Div} \sigma & in \ W^{-1,q'}(\Omega)^M \\
\operatorname{Curl} \eta_n \to \operatorname{Curl} \eta & in \ L^N(\Omega)^{M \times N \times N}.
\end{cases}$$
(2.12)

If the limits σ and η satisfy condition (2.2), then equality (2.6) holds.

Otherwise, for any function u satisfying

$$u \in W^{1,q}(\Omega)^M \quad and \quad \eta - Du \in W^{1,N}_{loc}(\Omega)^{M \times N},$$
 (2.13)

the limit μ satisfies the weak formulation

$$\begin{cases}
\forall B(x_0, R) \in \Omega, \ \forall \varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0, \infty), \ with \ \text{supp} \varphi \subset [0, R], \ such \ that} \\
\exists U closed \ set \ of \ [0, R], \ with \ \middle| \ (r, y) \mapsto u(x_0 + ry) \in C^0(U; W^{1,q}(S_{N-1})) \\
\varphi' \ is \ continuous \ on \ U \ with \ support \ in \ U,} \\
\langle \mu, \psi \rangle = -\langle \text{Div} \, \sigma, u\psi \rangle + \int_{B(x_0, R)} \sigma(dx) : \left[\eta \psi - D(u\psi) \right], \\
where \ \psi(x) := \varphi(|x - x_0|).
\end{cases}$$
(2.14)

First of all, focus on the case p, q > 1:

Remark 2.2. First of all, in view of the weak formulation (2.8) note that

$$\sigma: [\eta \psi - D(u\psi)] = \sigma: (\eta - Du) \psi - (\sigma \nabla \psi) \cdot u.$$

Hence, since $\sigma : (\eta - Du)$ is in $L^1(\Omega)$ by (2.7), the last integral term of (2.8) has a sense if and only if the integral term

$$\int_{B(x_0,R)} (\sigma \nabla \psi) \cdot u \, dx,$$

has a sense. This needs radial test functions ψ and will be discussed in the general setting of Remark 2.4 below. However, observe that the set of functions ψ of the form

$$\psi(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i \,\varphi_i(|x - x_i|)$$

such that for any $m \geq 1$ and $i \in \{1, ..., m\}$, c_i is a real constant, $x_i \in \Omega$ and $\varphi_i \in W^{1,\infty}(0, \infty)$ with supp $(\varphi_i) \subset [0, R_i]$, where $R_i > 0$ and $B(x_i, R_i) \in \Omega$, is dense in $W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega)$. Therefore, the weak formulation (2.8) fully characterizes the distribution μ .

On the other hand, the existence of a function u satisfying (2.7) follows from the fact that Curl η belongs to $W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)^{M\times N\times N}$ (see, e.g., [15], Proposition 2.5). Note that (2.8) does not depend actually on the choice of the function u satisfying (2.7). Indeed, let u and \tilde{u} be two functions satisfying (2.7). Since $u - \tilde{u} \in W^{1,q}(\Omega)^N \cap W^{1,p'}_{loc}(\Omega)^N$, we have

$$-\operatorname{Div}\sigma\cdot(u-\tilde{u})-\sigma:D(u-\tilde{u})+\operatorname{div}\left(\sigma^T(u-\tilde{u})\right)=0\quad\text{in }\Omega,$$

which implies that the right-hand side of (2.8) is equal to zero with $u - \tilde{u}$ instead of u.

Remark 2.3. It is clear that Theorem 2.1 implies the classical div-curl result of [37], [43], *i.e.* assuming that for $p \in (1, \infty)$,

$$\begin{cases}
\sigma_n \rightharpoonup \sigma & \text{in } L^p(\Omega)^{M \times N} \\
\eta_n \rightharpoonup \eta & \text{in } L^{p'}(\Omega)^{M \times N},
\end{cases}
\begin{cases}
\operatorname{Div} \sigma_n \to \operatorname{Div} \sigma & \text{in } W^{-1,p}(\Omega)^M \\
\operatorname{Curl} \eta_n \to \operatorname{Curl} \eta & \text{in } W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)^{M \times N \times N}.
\end{cases}$$

then the following convergence holds true

$$\sigma_n: \eta_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \sigma: \eta \quad \text{in } \mathscr{M}(\Omega).$$

We can also compare our result with the div-curl result of [15] based on the convergences (2.4) and (2.5) together with condition

$$\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} \le 1 + \frac{1}{N}.\tag{2.15}$$

First, by Proposition 2.5 of [15] there exists a matrix-valued function ζ such that

$$\zeta \in L^p(\Omega)^{M \times N}$$
, Div $\zeta = 0$ in Ω , $\sigma - \zeta \in L^{q'}_{loc}(\Omega)^{M \times N}$. (2.16)

Then, in the case p, q > 1 (but the other cases are similar), inequality (2.15) combined with the Sobolev imbedding $W^{1,q}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^{q_N^*}(\Omega)$ implies that if the functions u and ζ satisfy (2.7) and (2.16), then $\zeta^T u$ is in $L^1_{loc}(\Omega)^N$. Therefore, using that ζ is divergence free, the limit formulation (2.8) can be written

$$\mu = \sigma : (\eta - Du) + (\sigma - \zeta) : Du + \operatorname{div}(\zeta^T u) \quad \text{in } \mathscr{D}'(\Omega), \tag{2.17}$$

which is the weak formulation for σ : η according to Proposition 2.5 of [15]. However, Theorem 2.3 of [15] shows for sequences σ_n and η_n satisfying (2.2), (2.4), (2.5), the existence of two sequences x_i in Ω and c_i in \mathbb{R}^N such that

$$\sigma_n: \eta_n \rightharpoonup \mu + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{div}\left(c_j \, \delta_{x_j}\right) \quad \text{in } \mathscr{D}'(\Omega).$$

The reason of this apparent contradiction with equality (2.6) is that in Theorem 2.1 we have also assumed that $\sigma_n : \eta_n$ converges weakly in $W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$, while in [15] the convergence of $\sigma_n : \eta_n$ is obtained in the (larger) distributions space. It is easy to see that $\sigma_n : \eta_n$ in [15] is actually the divergence of a sequence which converges only in the weak-* sense of the measures.

Remark 2.4. In view of (2.7) and (2.8) the regularity assumption (2.2) for σ_n and η_n , which holds in most situations, can be replaced in the case p, q > 1 by the more general conditions:

$$\sigma_n: \eta_n \in W^{-1,1}(\Omega), \tag{2.18}$$

and similarly to (2.8), for any $u_n \in W^{1,q}_{loc}(\Omega)^M$ satisfying $\eta_n - Du_n \in L^{p'}_{loc}(\Omega)^{M \times N}$, we have

$$\begin{cases}
\forall B(x_0, R) \in \Omega, \ \forall \varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0, \infty), \text{ with supp } \varphi \subset [0, R], \\
\langle \sigma_n : \eta_n, \psi \rangle = -\langle \operatorname{Div} \sigma_n, u_n \psi \rangle + \int_{B(x_0, R)} \sigma_n : \left[\eta_n \psi - D(u_n \psi) \right] dx \\
-\langle \operatorname{Div} \sigma_n, u_n \psi \rangle + \int_{B(x_0, R)} \left[\sigma_n : (\eta_n - Du_n) \psi - (\sigma_n \nabla \psi) \cdot u_n \right] dx, \\
\text{where } \psi(x) := \varphi(|x - x_0|).
\end{cases} \tag{2.19}$$

So the distribution $\sigma_n : \eta_n$ is defined by the formula (2.19), and its extension to $W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$ is required through condition (2.18).

Then, we need to justify the integral term of (2.19)

$$\int_{B(x_0,R)} (\sigma_n \nabla \psi) \cdot u_n \, dx.$$

To this end, note that $u_n \in W^{1,q}_{loc}(\Omega)^M$ implies that

$$v_n: (0,R) \times S_{N-1} \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^M$$

 $(r,y) \mapsto u_n(x_0+ry)$

is in $L^q_{r^{N-1}dr}(0,R;W^{1,q}(S_{N-1}))^M$, and thus by Sobolev's imbedding, in $L^q_{r^{N-1}dr}(0,R;L^{p'}(S_{N-1}))^M$ due to (2.1). Hence, at least for $\varphi\in W^{1,\infty}(0,\infty)$, with supp $\varphi\subset[0,R]$ and

$$\operatorname{supp}(\varphi') \subset U_{\lambda} := \left\{ r \in (0, R) : \int_{\partial B(x_0, r)} |u_n|^{p'} ds(x) \le \lambda \right\} \quad \text{for some } \lambda > 0, \tag{2.20}$$

we deduce that the right-hand side of (2.19) has a sense. But if (2.19) holds at least for φ satisfying (2.20), then using that $\sigma_n : \eta_n$ is in $W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$ the function

$$g_n : r \mapsto r^{N-1} \int_{S_{N-1}} (\sigma_n(x_0 + ry) y) \cdot u_n(x_0 + ry) ds(y)$$

satisfies, by (2.19) together with the definition of $W^{-1,1}$, the equality

$$\int_0^R \varphi' g_n dr = \int_0^R \varphi f_n dr + \int_0^R \varphi' h_n dr, \text{ where } f_n, h_n \in L^1(0, R),$$

which implies that for any $\varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0,\infty)$, with supp $\varphi \subset [0,R]$,

$$\int_0^R \varphi' \, 1_{U_\lambda} \, g_n \, dr = \int_0^R \left(\int_0^r \varphi' \, 1_{U_\lambda} \right) f_n \, dr + \int_0^R \varphi' \, 1_{U_\lambda} h_n \, dr.$$

This combined with $|U_{\lambda}| \to R$ as $\lambda \to \infty$, allows us to conclude that g_n is in $L^1(0,R)$. Therefore, the weak formulation (2.19) is actually satisfied for any $\varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0,\infty)$, with supp $\varphi \subset [0,R]$.

The same argument applies to the limit formulation (2.8). Moreover, following the first argument of Remark 2.2 the weak formulation (2.8) fully characterizes the distribution μ .

The case q = 1 is similar to the case p, q > 1. Now, focus on the case p = 1 which is more delicate concerning the sense of the weak formulation (2.14):

Remark 2.5. Assume that p=1, and thus by (2.1) q>N-1. With respect to the first term in the right-hand side of (2.14), since Div σ is in $W^{-1,q'}(\Omega)^M$, there exists a matrix-valued Radon measure ζ satisfying (see [15], Proposition 2.5)

$$\zeta \in \mathcal{M}(\Omega)^{M \times N}, \quad \text{Div } \zeta = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \sigma - \zeta \in L^{q'}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)^{M \times N}.$$
 (2.21)

Thanks to a result due to Bourgain, Brezis [5], the two first assertions of (2.21) imply that the measure ζ is actually in $W_{\text{loc}}^{-1,N'}(\Omega)^{M\times N}$. Hence, it follows from (2.13) that

$$\sigma: (\eta - Du) = (\sigma - \zeta): (\eta - Du) + \zeta: (\eta - Du) \in L^{1}_{loc}(\Omega) + W^{-1,1}_{loc}(\Omega), \tag{2.22}$$

which yields a sense to the integral term

$$\int_{B(x_0,R)} \sigma(dx) : (\eta - Du) \, \psi.$$

With respect to the last term in the right-hand side of (2.14), observe that the function $v:(0,R)\times S_{N-1}\to\mathbb{R}^M$ defined by $v(r,y):=u(x_0+ry)$ belongs to $L^q_{r^{N-1}dr}(0,R;W^{1,q}(S_{N-1}))^M$, and thus to $L^q_{r^{N-1}dr}(0,R;C^0(S_{N-1}))^M$ by Sobolev's imbedding due to q>N-1. Then, by Lusin's theorem, for any $\varepsilon>0$, there exists of a closed set U satisfying the second line of (2.14) such that $|U|>R-\varepsilon$. For such a set U, the function v is in $C^0(U\times S_{N-1})$ (again by Sobolev's imbedding) and u is thus continuous on the closed set

$$K := \{ x \in \bar{\Omega} : x = x_0 + ry, \ r \in U, \ y \in S_{N-1} \},\$$

so that $\nabla \psi \otimes u$ can be extended to a continuous function in $\bar{\Omega}$. Therefore, the last term of (2.14), or equivalently,

$$\int_{B(x_0,R)} \left[\sigma : (\eta - Du) \, \psi - (\sigma \nabla \psi) \cdot u \right] dx,$$

in which

$$\int_{B(x_0,R)} (\sigma \nabla \psi) \cdot u \, dx = \int_K (\nabla \psi \otimes u) : d\sigma, \quad \text{where } \psi(x) := \varphi_U(|x - x_0|),$$

has a sense for any function φ_U satisfying the two first lines of (2.14). Moreover, since |U| can be chosen arbitrarily close to R, any $\varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0,\infty)$, with supp $\varphi \subset [0,R]$, can be approximated for the weak-* topology of $W^{1,\infty}(0,\infty)$ by a sequence of functions

$$\varphi_U(r) := \int_R^r \varphi' 1_U ds, \quad \text{for } r \in [0, \infty).$$

But it is not clear that the sole condition $\varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0,\infty)$, with supp $\varphi \subset [0,R]$, is sufficient. Finally, this combined with the first argument of Remark 2.2 implies that the weak formulation (2.14) fully characterizes the distribution μ .

2.2 Proof of Theorem 2.1

The key ingredient of the proof of Theorem 2.1 is the following compactness result:

Lemma 2.6. Let $N \geq 2$, $0 < R_0 < R$, and $q \geq 1$. Consider a sequence u_n in $W^{1,q}(C(R_0, R))^M$ such that

$$\begin{cases}
 u_n \rightharpoonup u & \text{in } W^{1,q}(C(R_0, R))^M, & \text{if } q > 1 \\
 u_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} u & \text{in } BV(C(R_0, R))^M, & \text{if } q = 1.
\end{cases}$$
(2.23)

Define $v_n, v \in L^q(R_0, R; W^{1,q}(S_{N-1}))^M$, or $v \in L^1(R_0, R; BV(S_{N-1}))^M$ if q = 1, by

$$v_n(r,y) := u_n(ry), \quad v(r,y) := u(ry), \quad a.e. \ (r,y) \in (R_0, R) \times S_{N-1},$$
 (2.24)

and the space X of functions in S_{N-1} by

$$X := \begin{cases} L^{s}(S_{N-1})^{M}, & \text{with } 1 \leq s < q_{N-1}^{*} = \left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{N-1}\right)^{-1}, & \text{if } q < N - 1\\ L^{s}(S_{N-1})^{M}, & \text{with } 1 \leq s < \infty, & \text{if } q = N - 1\\ C^{0}(S_{N-1})^{M}, & \text{if } q > N - 1. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.25)$$

Moreover, for any $\lambda > 0$ and any closed set U of $[R_0, R]$ such that $v \in C^0(U; W^{1,q}(S_{N-1}))^M$ if q > 1 or $v \in C^0(U; BV(S_{N-1}))^M$ if q = 1, define the subset U_n of U by

$$U_n := \left\{ r \in U : \int_{S_{N-1}} \left(|Du_n(ry)|^q + |Du(ry)|^q \right) ds(y) \le \lambda \right\}.$$
 (2.26)

Then, we have

$$|U \setminus U_n| \le \frac{1}{\lambda R_0^{N-1}} \int_{\{|x| \in U\}} (|Du_n|^q + |Du|^q) dx,$$
 (2.27)

$$\begin{cases}
 \|v_n - v\|_{C^0(U_n;X)} \to 0, & \text{if } q > 1 \\
 \|v_n - v\|_{L^s(U_n;X)} \to 0, & \forall s \in [1,\infty), & \text{if } q = 1.
\end{cases}$$
(2.28)

Proof. Property (2.27) is an immediate consequence of the definition (2.26) of U_n . Thus, we just need to prove (2.28).

On the one hand, since $W^{1,q}(S_{N-1})^M$ if q > 1, or $BV(S_{N-1})^M$ if q = 1, is compactly imbedded into X, we deduce from Lemma 5.1 of [31] that for any $\delta > 0$, there exists a constant $C_{\delta} > 0$ such that

$$\begin{cases} \|w\|_{X} \leq C_{\delta} \|w\|_{L^{q}(S_{N-1})^{M}} + \delta \|D_{\tau}w\|_{L^{q}(S_{N-1})^{M \times N}}, & \forall w \in W^{1,q}(S_{N-1})^{M}, & \text{if } q > 1, \\ \|w\|_{X} \leq C_{\delta} \|w\|_{L^{1}(S_{N-1})^{M}} + \delta \|D_{\tau}w\|_{\mathscr{M}(S_{N-1})^{M \times N}}, & \forall w \in BV(S_{N-1})^{M}, & \text{if } q = 1, \end{cases}$$

where D_{τ} denotes the tangential derivative along the manifold S_{N-1} . Applying these inequalities to $(v_n - v)(r, \cdot)$, and taking into account the definition (2.26) of U_n , we get

$$\begin{cases}
\|v_{n} - v\|_{C^{0}(U_{n};X)} \leq C_{\delta} \|v_{n} - v\|_{C^{0}(U_{n};L^{q}(S_{N-1}))^{M}} + \delta \lambda^{\frac{1}{q}} & \text{if } q > 1 \\
\|v_{n} - v\|_{L^{s}(U_{n};X)} \leq C_{\delta} \|v_{n} - v\|_{L^{s}(U_{n};L^{1}(S_{N-1}))^{M}} + \delta \lambda |U_{n}|^{\frac{1}{s}} & \text{if } q = 1.
\end{cases}$$
(2.29)

On the other hand, the sequence $v_n - v$ is bounded in $L^q(R_0, R; W^{1,q}(S_{N-1}))^M$ and the sequence $\partial_r(v_n - v)$ is bounded in $L^q(R_0, R; L^q(S_{N-1}))^M$ if q > 1, or in $\mathcal{M}((R_0, R) \times S_{N-1})^M$ if q = 1. Hence, by a compactness result due to Simon [40] (Corollary 8 and Remark 10.1), the sequence $v_n - v$ converges strongly to 0 in

$$\begin{cases}
C^{0}([R_{0}, R]; L^{q}(S_{N-1}))^{M}, & \text{if } q > 1 \\
L^{m}([R_{0}, R]; L^{1}(S_{N-1}))^{M}, & \forall m \in [1, \infty), & \text{if } q = 1,
\end{cases}$$
(2.30)

which combined with (2.29) yields

$$\begin{cases} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|v_n - v\|_{C^0(U_n; X)} \le \delta \lambda^{\frac{1}{q}}, & \text{if } q > 1\\ \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|v_n - v\|_{L^s(U_n; X)} \le \delta \lambda R^{\frac{1}{s}}, & \text{if } q = 1. \end{cases}$$

Finally, the arbitrariness of $\delta > 0$ leads to (2.27).

Let us start by the following preliminary remark which illuminates in particular the strategy of the proof of Theorem 2.1.

Remark 2.7. To fix ideas, assume that p, q > 1 with (2.1) (the other cases are similar). As observed in Remark 2.2, for $\sigma_n \in L^p(\Omega)^{M \times N}$ and $\eta_n \in L^q(\Omega)^{M \times N}$ such that $\operatorname{Curl} \eta_n$ is in $W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)^{M \times N \times N}$, there exists $u_n \in W^{1,q}(\Omega)^M$ such that $\eta_n - Du_n \in L^{p'}_{loc}(\Omega)^{M \times N}$.

Then, for any $B(x_0, R) \subseteq \Omega$ and for any $\varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0, \infty)$ with

$$\operatorname{supp} \varphi \subset [0,R], \quad \operatorname{supp} (\varphi') \subset \left\{ r \in [0,R] : \int_{\partial B(x_0,r)} |\nabla u_n|^q \, ds(y) \leq \lambda \right\} \text{ for some } \lambda > 0,$$

the integral

$$\int_{\Omega} \sigma_n : \left[\eta_n \psi - D(u_n \psi) \right] = \int_{\Omega} \left[\sigma_n : \left(\eta_n - Du_n \right) \psi - \left(\sigma_n \nabla \psi \right) \cdot u_n \right] dx,$$

where $\psi(x) := \varphi(|x - x_0|)$, is well defined. Defining V_n as the vector-space spanned by these functions ψ , we can then define the linear mapping $F_n : V_n \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$F_n \psi := \int_{\Omega} \sigma_n : \left[\eta_n \psi - D(u_n \psi) \right]. \tag{2.31}$$

The proof of Theorem 2.1 essentially consists in constructing sequences ψ_n in V_n converging to a function ψ in $W^{1,\infty}(\Omega)$ weak-* such that

$$F_n\psi_n\to F\psi$$
.

But this does not prove the convergence of F_n to F in any topology because the spaces V_n vary with n. This is the reason to make assumption (2.3) in Theorem 2.1. However, this assumption can be simplified. Indeed, instead of assuming $\sigma_n : Du_n \in W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$, we can assume that

$$F_n$$
 defined by (2.31) can be extended to an element of $W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$, (2.32)

which holds true for example if $\sigma_n^T u_n$ is in $L^1(\Omega)^N$, and then to define $\sigma_n : \eta_n$ in a relaxed way by the equality

$$\sigma_n: \eta_n := F_n. \tag{2.33}$$

Note that for σ_n , η_n smooth enough this equality holds, but F_n does not necessarily agree with the measurable function σ_n : η_n which in general is not even in $L^1(\Omega)$. Then, also assuming

$$\sigma_n: \eta_n \rightharpoonup \mu \quad \text{in } W^{-1,1}(\Omega),$$
 (2.34)

Theorem 2.1 shows that $\mu = \sigma : \eta$, where $\sigma : \eta$ is defined in a relaxed way similarly to $\sigma_n : \eta_n$.

The proof of Theorem 2.1 will use the following equi-integrability result for weakly convergent sequences in $W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$ and radial test functions:

Lemma 2.8. Let $x_0 \in \Omega$ and R > 0 be such that $B(x_0, R) \subset \Omega$. Consider a sequence f_n in $L^1(\Omega)^N$ and a function f in $L^1(\Omega)^N$ such that $\operatorname{div} f_n$ converges weakly to $\operatorname{div} f$ in $W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$, and define h_n in (0, R) by

$$h_n(r) := \int_{\partial B(x_0, r)} f_n \cdot \frac{x - x_0}{|x - x_0|} \, ds, \quad \text{for } r \in (0, R).$$
 (2.35)

Then, the sequence h_n is bounded and equi-integrable in $L^1(0,R)$.

Proof. It is equivalent to prove that h_n converges weakly in $L^1(0,R)$. For this purpose, consider $\phi \in L^{\infty}(0,R)$, and define $\varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0,R)$ with $\varphi(R)=0$, by

$$\varphi(r) = \int_{r}^{R} \phi(t) dt$$
 for $r \in [0, R]$.

Then, we have

$$\int_0^R h_n \phi \, dr = -\int_{B(x_0, R)} f_n \cdot \frac{x - x_0}{|x - x_0|} \, \varphi'(|x - x_0|) \, dx = -\int_{B(x_0, R)} f_n \cdot \nabla \left[\varphi(|x - x_0|) \right] dx$$
$$= \left\langle \operatorname{div} f_n, \varphi(|x - x_0|) \right\rangle \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \left\langle \operatorname{div} f, \varphi(|x - x_0|) \right\rangle = \int_0^R h \phi \, dr,$$

where $h \in L^1(0,R)$ is defined replacing f_n by f in formula (2.35). Therefore, h_n converges weakly to h in $L^1(0,R)$.

Proof of Theorem 2.1. First of all, if σ and η satisfy the regularity assumption (2.2), then the weak formulations (2.8) and (2.14) are reduced to $\mu = \sigma : \eta$. Indeed, in this case any function u satisfying (2.7) or (2.13) is in $W^{1,s'}(\Omega)^N$, so that

$$\operatorname{div}(\sigma^T u) = \operatorname{Div}(\sigma) \cdot u + \sigma : Du.$$

A simple integration by parts in (2.8) and (2.14) then yields $\mu = \sigma : \eta$.

Let us now treat the general case. From Proposition 2.5 of [15] we deduce the existence of functions u_n , u in $W^{1,q}(\Omega)^N$ satisfying

$$u_n \rightharpoonup u$$
 in
$$\begin{cases} W^{1,q}(\Omega)^M, & \text{if } q > 1\\ BV(\Omega)^M, & \text{if } q = 1, \end{cases}$$
 (2.36)

$$\eta_n - Du_n \to \eta - Du$$
 strongly in
$$\begin{cases}
L_{\text{loc}}^{p'}(\Omega)^{M \times N}, & \text{if } p > 1 \\
W_{\text{loc}}^{1,N}(\Omega)^{M \times N}, & \text{if } p = 1.
\end{cases}$$
(2.37)

Let be a closed ball of radius R > 0 contained in Ω . Up to a translation we may assume the ball is centered at the origin. Define $v_n, v: (0, R) \times S_{N-1} \to \mathbb{R}^M$ by (2.24). For $R_0 \in (0, R)$ and for a closed set U of $[R_0, R]$ such that $v \in C^0(U; W^{1,q}(S_{N-1}))^M$, take a function $\varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0, \infty)$ with supp $\varphi \subset [0, R]$, supp $(\varphi') \subset U$. Then, for a fixed $\lambda > 0$, consider the set U_n defined by (2.26) and define the function $\varphi_n \in W^{1,\infty}(0,\infty)$ by

$$\varphi_n(r) := \int_R^r \varphi' \, 1_{U_n} \, ds, \quad \text{for } r \in [0, \infty).$$

Also define the functions $\psi_n, \psi \in W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega)$ by

$$\psi_n(x) := \varphi_n(|x|), \quad \psi(x) := \varphi(|x|), \quad \text{for } x \in \Omega.$$

According to Remark 2.7 our aim is to pass to the limit in $\langle \sigma_n : \eta_n, \psi_n \rangle$. We distinguish three cases:

• The case p, q > 1. Using assumption (2.2) or the more general (2.19), combined with the first convergences of (2.5) and (2.37), we have

$$\langle \sigma_{n} : \eta_{n}, \psi_{n} \rangle$$

$$= -\langle \operatorname{Div} \sigma_{n}, u_{n} \psi_{n} \rangle + \int_{\Omega} \sigma_{n} : (\eta_{n} - Du_{n}) \psi_{n} \, dx - \int_{\{|x| \in U_{n}\}} (\sigma_{n} \nabla \psi_{n}) \cdot u_{n} \, dx$$

$$= -\langle \operatorname{Div} \sigma, u \psi \rangle + \int_{\Omega} \sigma : (\eta - Du) \psi \, dx - \int_{\{|x| \in U_{n}\}} (\sigma_{n} \nabla \psi_{n}) \cdot u_{n} \, dx + o(1).$$
(2.38)

On the one hand, to pass to the limit in the left-hand side of (2.38) we use the decomposition

$$\langle \sigma_n : \eta_n, \psi_n \rangle = \langle \sigma_n : \eta_n, \psi \rangle + \langle \sigma_n : \eta_n, \psi_n - \psi \rangle$$

where the first term converges clearly to $\langle \mu, \psi \rangle$ by (2.3). For the second term, by (2.3) there exist functions $f_n \in L^1(\Omega)^N$ satisfying $\operatorname{div} f_n = \sigma_n : \eta_n$. Thus, we have

$$\left|\left\langle \sigma_n : \eta_n, \psi_n - \psi \right\rangle\right| = \left| \int_{\Omega} f_n \cdot \nabla(\psi_n - \psi) \, dx \right| \le C \int_{U \setminus U_n} |h_n| \, dr,$$

where h_n is defined by (2.35). Hence, by (2.27) we get that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left| \left\langle \sigma_n : \eta_n, \psi_n \right\rangle - \left\langle \mu, \psi \right\rangle \right| \le C \sup_{\substack{m \in \mathbb{N} \\ |B| \le c/\lambda}} \int_B |h_m| \, dr. \tag{2.39}$$

On the other hand, for the last term in (2.38), consider the functions v_n, v of (2.24) and define the functions $\xi_n, \xi: (0, R) \times S_{N-1} \to \mathbb{R}^{M \times N}$ by

$$\xi_n(r,y) := \sigma_n(ry), \quad \xi(r,y) := \sigma(ry), \quad \text{a.e. } (r,y) \in (0,R) \times S_{N-1}.$$

Then, we have

$$\int_{\{|x|\in U_n\}} (\sigma_n \nabla \psi) \cdot u_n \, dx = \int_{U_n} \varphi'(r) \, r^{N-1} \int_{S_{N-1}} (\xi_n y) \cdot (v_n - v) \, ds(y) \, dr
+ \int_{U} \varphi'(r) \, r^{N-1} \int_{S_{N-1}} (\xi_n y) \cdot v \, ds(y) \, dr - \int_{U \setminus U_n} \varphi'(r) \, r^{N-1} \int_{S_{N-1}} (\xi_n y) \cdot v \, ds(y) \, dr.$$
(2.40)

Since ξ_n is bounded in $L^p(R_0, R; L^p(S_{N-1}))^{M \times N}$ and v_n satisfies the first convergence of (2.28) with $X := L^{p'}(S_{N-1})$ and $p' < q^*_{N-1}$ by (2.1), the first term in the right-hand side of (2.40) tends to zero. Moreover, since ξ_n converges weakly to ξ in $L^p(U; L^p(S_{N-1}))^{M \times N}$ and v is in $C^0(U; L^{p'}(S_{N-1}))^M$ by Sobolev's imbedding combined with $p' < q^*_{N-1}$, we have

$$\int_{U} \varphi'(r) r^{N-1} \int_{S_{N-1}} (\xi_{n} y) \cdot v \, ds(y) \, dr \quad \to \int_{U} \varphi'(r) r^{N-1} \int_{S_{N-1}} (\xi y) \cdot v \, ds(y) \, dr$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} (\sigma \nabla \psi) \cdot u \, dx.$$

The last term of (2.40) can be estimated thanks to Hölder's inequality by

$$\left| \int_{U \setminus U_n} \varphi'(r) \, r^{N-1} \int_{S_{N-1}} (\xi_n y) \cdot v \, ds(y) \, dr \right|$$

$$\leq R^{N-1} |U \setminus U_n|^{\frac{1}{p'}} \|\varphi'\|_{L^{\infty}(U)} \|\xi_n\|_{L^p(U;L^p(S_{N-1}))^{M \times N}} \|v\|_{C^0(U;L^{p'}(S_{N-1}))^M},$$

hence by (2.27)

$$\left| \int_{U \setminus U_n} \varphi'(r) \, r^{N-1} \int_{S_{N-1}} (\xi_n y) \cdot v \, ds(y) \, dr \right| \le \frac{C}{\lambda^{\frac{1}{p'}}}. \tag{2.41}$$

Finally, combining (2.38), (2.39), (2.41) we obtain

$$\left| \langle \mu, \psi \rangle + \langle \operatorname{Div} \sigma, u\psi \rangle - \int_{\Omega} \sigma : \left[\eta \psi - D(u\psi) \, dx \right] \right|$$

$$= \left| \langle \mu, \psi \rangle + \langle \operatorname{Div} \sigma, u\psi \rangle - \int_{\Omega} \sigma : (\eta - Du) \, \psi \, dx + \int_{\Omega} (\sigma \nabla \psi) \cdot u \, dx \right|$$

$$\leq C \left(\sup_{m \in \mathbb{N} \atop |B| \leq c/\lambda} \int_{B} |h_{m}| \, dr + \frac{1}{\lambda^{\frac{1}{p'}}} \right).$$

Taking into account the equi-integrability of h_m given by Lemma 2.8 and the arbitrariness of $\lambda > 0$, we have just proved that the function u defined by (2.37) satisfies (2.8) for any $\varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0,\infty)$ with supp $\varphi \subset [0,R]$, and supp (φ') contained in a closed set U of $[R_0,R]$ such that v belongs to $C^0(U;W^{1,q}(S_{N-1}))^M$.

Finally, by Lusin's theorem the closed set U of (0,R] can be chosen such that R-|U| is arbitrary small. Hence, any function $\varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0,\infty)$, with supp $\varphi \subset [0,R]$, can be approximated for the weak-* topology of $W^{1,\infty}(0,\infty)$ by a sequence of functions

$$\varphi_U(r) := \int_R^r \varphi' 1_U ds, \quad \text{for } r \in [0, \infty),$$

which satisfy supp $(\varphi_U) \subset [0, R]$ and supp $(\varphi_U') \subset U$. This combined with the density argument of Remark 2.4 (based on the fact that $\mu \in W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$) shows that the weak formulation (2.8) holds actually for any $\varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0,\infty)$, with supp $\varphi \subset [0,R]$. This concludes the proof of Theorem 2.1 in the case p,q > 1.

- The case q=1. It is similar to the previous case using the first convergence of (2.37), and the second convergence of (2.36) combined with Sobolev's imbedding $BV(\Omega)^M \hookrightarrow L^{N'}(\Omega)^M$.
- The case p = 1. It is also similar to the first case. The only delicate point comes from the second term in the right-hand side of (2.38). In view of (2.21) and (2.22) we can write

$$\int_{\Omega} \sigma_n : (\eta_n - Du_n) \, \psi_n \, dx = \int_{\Omega} (\sigma_n - \zeta_n) : (\eta_n - Du_n) \, \psi_n \, dx + \int_{\Omega} \zeta_n : (\eta_n - Du_n) \, \psi_n \, dx, \quad (2.42)$$

where by virtue of Proposition 2.5 of [15] the measures ζ_n, ζ satisfy

$$\zeta_n \to \zeta$$
 in $\mathscr{M}(\Omega)^{M \times N}$, Div $\zeta_n = 0$ in Ω , $\sigma_n - \zeta_n \to \sigma - \zeta$ strongly in $L_{loc}^{q'}(\Omega)^{M \times N}$. (2.43)

By the second convergence of (2.37) and (2.43) the first term in the right-hand side of (2.42) clearly converges. Moreover, we can also pass to the limit in the second term of the right-hand side of (2.42), since the divergence free sequence ζ_n converges weakly in $W^{-1,N'}(\Omega)^{M\times N}$ thanks to the Bourgain, Brezis result [5], hence

$$\int_{\Omega} \sigma_n : (\eta_n - Du_n) \, \psi_n \, dx \to \int_{\Omega} \sigma : (\eta - Du) \, \psi \, dx.$$

Therefore, the proof of Theorem 2.1 is complete.

2.3 The limit case: $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1 + \frac{1}{N-1}$

When inequality (2.1) becomes an equality, the imbedding $W^{1,q}(S_{N-1}) \hookrightarrow L^{p'}(S_{N-1})$ is no more compact, so Lemma 2.6 is useless. This lack of compactness can be overcome adding an equiintegrability assumption for the sequence η_n in Theorem 2.1. This is the aim of Theorem 2.9 in the case p > 1.

The case p=1, and thus q=N-1, corresponds to the critical case for Sobolev's inequality: $W^{1,N-1}(S_{N-1})$ is continuously imbedded in $L^s(S_{N-1})$ for any $s\in[1,\infty)$, but if N>2, it is not imbedded in $L^\infty(S_{N-1})$. To get over this difficulty we need to work with a space which is a little more regular than $L^{N-1}(\Omega)$. So, in Theorem 2.11 below $L^{N-1}(\Omega)$ is replaced by the Lorentz space $L^{N-1,1}(\Omega)$. It is known that the space of functions $u\in W^{1,N-1}(S_{N-1})$ the gradient of which belongs to $L^{N-1,1}(S_{N-1})$ is continuously imbedded in $C^0(S_{N-1})$ (see, e.g., [44], Chap. 31). Moreover, for N=2, $L^{1,1}(S_1)$ agrees with $L^1(S_1)$, so that we can extend Theorem 2.1 to the case N=2, p=q=1.

Theorem 2.9. Let Ω be a bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^N , with $N \geq 2$, and let p, q be such that

$$1 (2.44)$$

Consider two sequences of matrix-valued functions $\sigma_n \in L^p(\Omega)^{M \times N}$, $\eta_n \in L^q(\Omega)^{M \times N}$, satisfying (2.2), (2.3), (2.4), (2.5) together with

$$|\eta_n|^p$$
 equi-integrable in $L^1(\Omega)$. (2.45)

Then the weak formulation (2.8) holds true.

In order to state the case p=1, q=N-1, recall the definition of the Lorentz space $L^{p,1}(E)$:

Definition 2.10. Let E be a measurable set of \mathbb{R}^N . For a measurable function $f: E \to \mathbb{R}$, the non-increasing rearrangement $f^*: [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ of f is defined by

$$f^*(t) := \inf \{ \lambda \ge 0 : |\{x \in E : |f(x)| > \lambda\}| \le t \}.$$
 (2.46)

Then, we define $L^{p,1}(E)$, p>1, as the space of measurable functions $f:E\to\mathbb{R}$ such that

$$||f||_{L^{p,1}(E)} = \int_0^\infty t^{-\frac{1}{p'}} f^*(t) dt = \int_0^\infty \left| \left\{ x \in E : |f(x)| > \lambda \right\} \right|^{\frac{1}{p}} d\lambda < \infty.$$
 (2.47)

The space $L^{p,1}(E)$ is a Banach space equipped with the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^{p,1}(E)}$.

Theorem 2.11. Let Ω be a bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^N , with $N \geq 2$, and two sequences of matrix-valued functions σ_n and η_n satisfying (2.2), (2.3),

$$\begin{cases}
\sigma_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \sigma & \text{in } \mathcal{M}(\Omega)^{M \times N} \\
\eta_n \rightharpoonup \eta & \text{in } L^{N-1,1}(\Omega)^{M \times N},
\end{cases}$$
(2.48)

$$\begin{cases}
\operatorname{Div} \sigma_n \to \operatorname{Div} \sigma & in \ W^{-1,(N-1)'}(\Omega)^M \\
\operatorname{Curl} \eta_n \to \operatorname{Curl} \eta & in \ L^N(\Omega)^{M \times N \times N}.
\end{cases}$$
(2.49)

Also assume that the sequence η_n satisfies the equi-integrability condition

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \ \exists \delta > 0, \ \|\eta_n\|_{L^{N-1,1}(E)^{M\times N}} \le \varepsilon, \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall E \ measurable \ set \ of \ \Omega, \ |E| < \delta. \ (2.50)$$

Then, for any function u satisfying

$$u \in W^{1,N-1}(\Omega)^M$$
, $Du \in L^{N-1,1}(\Omega)^{M \times N}$, $\eta - Du \in W^{1,N}(\Omega)^{M \times N}$, (2.51)

the limit μ satisfies the weak formulation

$$\begin{cases}
\forall B(x_0, R) \in \Omega, \ \forall \varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0, \infty), \ with \ \text{supp} \varphi \subset [0, R], \ such \ that \\
\exists U closed \ set \ of \ [0, R], \ with \ u(x_0 + ry) \in C^0(U; X^{1,N-1}(S_{N-1}))^M, \ \text{supp} \ (\varphi') \subset U, \\
\langle \mu, \psi \rangle = -\langle \text{Div} \, \sigma, u\psi \rangle + \int_{B(x_0, R)} \left[\sigma(dx) : (\eta - Du) \, \psi - (\sigma \nabla \psi) \cdot u \, dx \right], \\
where \ \psi(x) := \varphi(|x - x_0|),
\end{cases}$$
(2.52)

and $X^{1,N-1}(S_{N-1})$ is the space defined by

$$X^{1,N-1}(S_{N-1}) := \left\{ v \in W^{1,N-1}(S_{N-1}) : \nabla v \in L^{N-1,1}(S_{N-1})^N \right\}. \tag{2.53}$$

Remark 2.12. Let u be a function in $W^{1,N-1}(\Omega)^M$ such that $Du \in L^{N-1,1}(\Omega)^{M\times N}$, and let $v:(0,R)\times S_{N-1}\to\mathbb{R}^M$ be the function defined by $v(r,y):=u(x_0+ry)$, so that $\nabla_y v$ is the tangential part of ∇u on $\partial B(x_0,r)$. By Hölder's inequality we have for any $\lambda>0$,

$$\int_{0}^{R} r^{N-1} \left(\int_{S_{N-1}} 1_{\{|\nabla_{y}v| > \lambda\}} ds(y) \right)^{\frac{1}{N-1}} dr \le CR^{N'(N-2)} \left(\int_{0}^{R} \int_{S_{N-1}} 1_{\{|\nabla u(x_{0}+ry)| > \lambda\}} ds(y) r^{N-1} dr \right)^{\frac{1}{N-1}}$$

$$\le CR^{N'(N-2)} \left(\left| \left\{ x \in B(x_{0}, R) : |\nabla u(x)| > \lambda \right\} \right| \right)^{\frac{1}{N-1}}.$$

Hence, integrating the previous inequality with respect to $\lambda > 0$ and using that $\nabla u \in L^{N-1,1}(\Omega)^N$, it follows that v is in $L^1_{r^{N-1}dr}(0,R;X^{1,N-1}(S_{N-1}))^M$, and thus in $L^1_{r^{N-1}dr}(0,R;C^0(S_{N-1}))^M$ since the Lorentz space $L^{N-1,1}(S_{N-1})$ is imbedded into $C^0(S_{N-1})$ (see [44], Chap. 31). Moreover, by Lusin's theorem, for any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a closed set U satisfying the second line of (2.52) such that $|U| > R - \varepsilon$. Hence, for $\sigma \in \mathcal{M}(\Omega)^{M \times N}$, the integral term

$$\int_{B(x_0,R)} (\sigma \nabla \psi) \cdot u \, dx, \quad \text{where } \psi(x) := \varphi(|x - x_0|),$$

has a sense for any function φ satisfying the two first lines of (2.52). Therefore, we can conclude as in Remark 2.5 that the weak formulation (2.52) fully characterizes the distribution μ .

The proof of the two last theorems is similar to the one of Theorem 2.1 using Lemma 2.13 below in the case p > 1, and Lemma 2.14 below in the case p = 1, instead of Lemma 2.6. So we restrict ourselves to the proof of these two lemmas.

Lemma 2.13. Let N > 2, let $R_0, R > 0$ be such that $R_0 < R$, and let $q \in [1, N-1)$. Consider a sequence u_n in $W^{1,q}(C(R_0, R))$ which converges weakly to a function u in $W^{1,q}(C(R_0, R))$, and such that $|\nabla u_n|^q$ is equi-integrable in $L^1(\Omega)$. Consider $v_n, v \in L^q(R_0, R; W^{1,q}(S_{N-1}))$ defined by (2.24).

Then, for any U subset of $[R_0, R]$ such that $v \in L^{\infty}(U; L^{q_{N-1}^*}(S_{N-1}))^M$, for any $\lambda, \varepsilon > 0$, there exists a sequence $U_n \subset U$ satisfying

$$|U \setminus U_n| \le \frac{1}{R_0^{N-1}} \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{\{|x| \in U\}} \left(|\nabla u_n|^q + |\nabla u|^q \right) dx + \varepsilon \right), \tag{2.54}$$

$$\int_{S_{N-1}} \left(|\nabla u_n(ry)|^q + |\nabla u(ry)|^q \right) ds(y) < \lambda, \quad a.e. \ r \in U_n,$$
 (2.55)

$$||v_n - v||_{L^{\infty}(U_n; L^{q_{N-1}^*}(S_{N-1}))} \to 0.$$
 (2.56)

Proof. Since $W^{1,p}(C(R_0,R))$ is compactly imbedded in $L^1(\partial B(0,r))$ for any $r \in [R_0,R]$, the sequence $v_n(r,.)$ converges to v(r,.) in $L^1(S_{N-1})^M$ for any $r \in [R_0,R]$. Also using that

$$||v_n(r_1,\cdot) - v_n(r_2,\cdot)||_{L^1(S_{N-1})} \le C \int_{\{r_1 < |x| < r_2\}} |\nabla u_n| \, dx, \quad \forall \, r_1, r_2 \text{ with } R_0 < r_1 < r_2 < R.$$

and the equi-integrability of $|\nabla u_n|$ in $L^1(R_0, R)$, we easily conclude that v_n converges to v in $C^0([R_0, R]; L^1(S_{N-1}))^M$.

Now, take $\varepsilon > 0$. By the equi-integrability of $|Du_n|^q$, for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists $\delta_k > 0$ such that for any measurable set $B \subset C(R_0, R)$ with $|B| < \delta_k$, we have

$$\int_{B} \Lambda_{n} dx < \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{2^{2k}}, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \quad \text{where } \Lambda_{n} := |\nabla u_{n}|^{q} + |\nabla u|^{q}.$$
 (2.57)

Let $\phi:(0,\infty)\to\mathbb{R}$ the function defined by

$$\phi(h) := |B(e_1, h) \cap S_{N-1}|, \quad \text{for } h > 0, \tag{2.58}$$

and let $h_k > 0$ be such that

$$\phi(h_k) \frac{R^N - R_0^N}{N} < \delta_k. \tag{2.59}$$

Then, for a.e. $r \in (R_0, R)$ and any $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$, denote

$$T_{n,k}(r) := \sup_{z \in S_{N-1}} \int_{B(z,h_k) \cap S_{N-1}} \Lambda_n(ry) \, ds(y).$$

We will prove that the set

$$E_{n,k} := \left\{ r \in (R_0, R) : T_{n,k}(r) > \frac{\varepsilon}{2^k} \right\}, \quad \text{for } k, n \in \mathbb{N},$$
 (2.60)

satisfies

$$|E_{n,k}| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2^k R_0^{N-1}}, \quad \forall k, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (2.61)

To this end, for fixed $k, n \in \mathbb{N}$, consider for a.e. $r \in (0, R)$,

$$F(r) := \left\{ z \in S_{N-1} : \int_{B(z,h_k) \cap S_{N-1}} \Lambda_n(ry) \, ds(y) = \sup_{x \in S_{N-1}} \int_{B(x,h_k) \cap S_{N-1}} \Lambda_n(ry) \, ds(y) \right\}.$$

Then, F is a multifunction valued on closed sets. Let us also prove that it is measurable, *i.e.* that for any open set $G \subset S_{N-1}$ we have

$$\{r \in (R_0, R) : F(r) \cap G \neq \emptyset\}$$
 is measurable. (2.62)

For this purpose, consider a sequence of points $z_l \in S_{N-1}$, which is dense in S_{N-1} . Then, taking into account that

$$\sup_{z \in S_{N-1}} \int_{B(z,h_k) \cap S_{N-1}} \Lambda_n(ry) \, ds(y) = \sup_{l \in \mathbb{N}} \int_{B(z_l,h_k) \cap S_{N-1}} \Lambda_n(ry) \, ds(y),$$

we deduce that $T_{n,k}$ is measurable. Now, consider an open set $G \subset S_{N-1}$ and observe that by continuity, $F(r) \cap G$ is not empty if and only if

$$\forall m \in \mathbb{N}, \ \exists z_l \in G, \quad T_{n,k}(r) - \int_{B(z_l,h_k) \cap S_{N-1}} \Lambda_n(ry) \, ds(y) < \frac{1}{m}.$$

Therefore, we get that

$$\left\{ r \in (R_0, R) : F(r) \cap G \neq \emptyset \right\} = \bigcap_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \bigcup_{z_l \in G} \left\{ r \in (R_0, R) : T_{n,k}(r) - \int_{B(z_l, h_k) \cap S_{N-1}} \Lambda_n(ry) \, ds(y) < \frac{1}{m} \right\}$$

is measurable.

Since F is valued on closed sets and measurable, we can apply the selection measurable theorem to derive a measurable function $g:(R_0,R)\mapsto S_{N-1}$ satisfying

$$\int_{B(g(r),h_k)\cap S_{N-1}} \Lambda_n(ry) \, ds(y) = \sup_{z \in S_{N-1}} \int_{B(z,h_k)\cap S_{N-1}} \Lambda_n(ry) \, ds(y), \text{ a.e. } r \in (R_0,R).$$

This implies that

$$B := \{ ry \in C(R_0, R) : y \in B(g(r), h_k) \cap S_{N-1} \}$$
(2.63)

is a measurable set of $C(R_0, R)$, which by (2.58), (2.59) and rotation invariance satisfies

$$|B| \le \phi(h_k) \int_{R_0}^R r^{N-1} dr = \phi(h_k) \frac{R^N - R_0^N}{N} < \delta_k.$$
 (2.64)

By (2.57) and (2.60) this yields

$$\frac{\varepsilon^2}{2^{2k}} > \int_B \Lambda_n \, dx \ge \int_{R_0}^R T_{n,k}(r) \, r^{N-1} \, dr \ge \frac{\varepsilon}{2^k} \, R_0^{N-1} \, |E_{n,k}|,$$

hence the desired estimate (2.61).

Now, for $\lambda > 0$, define the set

$$U_n := \left\{ r \in U \setminus \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} E_{n,k} : \int_{S_{N-1}} \Lambda_n(ry) \, ds(y) < \lambda \right\}. \tag{2.65}$$

Then, (2.55) is satisfied by definition, while

$$|U_n| \ge \left| \left\{ r \in U : \int_{S_{N-1}} \Lambda_n(ry) \, ds(y) < \lambda \right\} \right| - \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} |E_{n,k}|$$

$$\ge |U| - \left| \left\{ r \in U : \int_{S_{N-1}} \Lambda_n(ry) \, ds(y) \ge \lambda \right\} \right| - \frac{\varepsilon}{R_0^{N-1}}$$

$$\ge |U| - \frac{1}{R_0^{N-1}} \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} \int_{\{|x| \in U\}} \Lambda_n \, dx + \varepsilon \right),$$

which gives (2.54).

Let us now prove that (2.56) holds. For this purpose, fix $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and, using Vitali's covering theorem, consider $y_1, \dots, y_{n_k} \in S_{N-1}$ such that

$$S_{N-1} \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{n_k} B(y_i, h_k), \quad B(y_i, h_k/5) \cap B(y_j, h_k/5) = \emptyset, \text{ if } i \neq j.$$

Then, we have

$$\|v_{n} - v\|_{L^{\infty}(U_{n}; L^{q_{N-1}^{*}}(S_{N-1}))}^{q_{N-1}^{*}} \leq \left\| \sum_{i=1}^{n_{k}} \|v_{n} - v\|_{L^{q_{N-1}^{*}}(B(y_{i}, h_{k}) \cap S_{N-1}))}^{q_{N-1}^{*}} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(U_{n})}^{2}$$

$$\leq 3^{q_{N-1}^{*}-1} \left\| \sum_{i=1}^{n_{k}} \|v_{n} - \frac{1}{\phi(h_{k})} \int_{B(y_{i}, h_{k}) \cap S_{N-1}}^{N} v_{n} \, ds(y) \right\|_{L^{q_{N-1}^{*}}(B(y_{i}, h_{k}) \cap S_{N-1}))}^{q_{N-1}^{*}} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(U_{n})}^{2}$$

$$+ \frac{3^{q_{N-1}^{*}-1}}{\phi(h_{k})^{q_{N-1}^{*}}} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{k}} \left\| \int_{B(y_{i}, h_{k}) \cap S_{N-1}}^{N} (v_{n} - v) \, ds(y) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(U_{n})}^{q_{N-1}^{*}}$$

$$+ 3^{q_{N-1}^{*}-1} \left\| \sum_{i=1}^{n_{k}} \|v - \frac{1}{\phi(h_{k})} \int_{B(y_{i}, h_{k}) \cap S_{N-1}}^{N} v \, ds(y) \right\|_{L^{q_{N-1}^{*}}(B(y_{i}, h_{k}) \cap S_{N-1}))}^{q_{N-1}^{*}} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(U_{n})}^{N}$$

Using the invariance by dilatations of Sobolev-Wirtinger's inequality it follows from (2.65) and (2.60) that

$$\left\| \sum_{i=1}^{n_k} \left\| v_n - \frac{1}{\phi(h_k)} \int_{B(y_i, h_k) \cap S_{N-1}} v_n \, ds(y) \right\|_{L^{q_{N-1}^*}(B(y_i, h_k) \cap S_{N-1}))}^{q_{N-1}^*} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(U_n)}$$

$$\leq \left\| \sum_{i=1}^{n_k} \left\| \nabla u_n(ry) \right\|_{L^q(B(y_i, h_k) \cap S_{N-1}))^N}^{q_{N-1}^*} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(U_n)}$$

$$\leq C \operatorname{ess-sup}_{\substack{r \in U_n \\ z \in S_{N-1}}} \left(\left\| \nabla u_n(ry) \right\|_{L^q(B(z, h_k) \cap S_{N-1}))}^{q_{N-1}^* - q} \right) \left\| \nabla u_n \right\|_{L^{\infty}(U_n; L^q(S_{N-1}))}^{q}$$

$$= C \operatorname{ess-sup}_{\substack{r \in U_n \\ z \in S_{N-1}}} \left(T_{n,k}(r) \right)^{q_{N-1}^* - q} \left\| \nabla u_n \right\|_{L^{\infty}(U_n; L^q(S_{N-1}))}^{q} \leq C \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{2^k} \right)^{q_{N-1}^* - q} \lambda.$$

The same reasoning also shows that

$$\left\| \sum_{i=1}^{n_k} \left\| v - \frac{1}{\phi(h_k)} \int_{B(y_i, h_k) \cap S_{N-1}} v \, ds(y) \, \right\|_{L^{q_{N-1}^*}(B(y_i, h_k) \cap S_{N-1}))}^{q_{N-1}^*} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(U_n)} \le C \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{2^k} \right)^{q_{N-1}^* - q} \lambda.$$

Since v_n converges to v in $L^{\infty}(R_0, R_1; L^1(S_{N-1}))$, the second term in the right-hand side of (2.66) tends to zero. Therefore, taking the limsup as $\varepsilon \to 0$ in (2.66) we obtain that

$$\limsup_{n\to\infty} \|v_n - v\|_{L^{\infty}(U_n; L^{q_{N-1}^*}(S_{N-1}))}^{q_{N-1}^*} \le C\left(\frac{\varepsilon}{2^k}\right)^{q_{N-1}^* - q} \lambda, \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N},$$

which finally yields (2.56).

Lemma 2.14. Let $N \ge 2$, and let $R_0, R > 0$ be such that $R_0 < R$. Consider a sequence u_n in $W^{1,N-1}(C(R_0,R))$ which converges weakly to a function u in $W^{1,N-1}(C(R_0,R))$ such that ∇u_n is bounded in $L^{N-1,1}(C(R_0,R))^N$ and satisfies the equi-integrability condition

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \ \exists \delta > 0, \ \|\nabla u_n\|_{L^{N-1,1}(B)^M} \le \varepsilon, \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall B \subset C(R_0, R), \ |B| < \delta.$$
 (2.67)

Define $v_n, v \in L^{N-1}(R_0, R; W^{1,N-1}(S_{N-1}))$ by (2.24).

Then, for any closed set U of $[R_0, R]$ such that $v \in C^0(U; X^{1,N-1}(S_{N-1}))$, for any $\lambda, \varepsilon > 0$, there exists a sequence $U_n \subset U$ satisfying

$$|U \setminus U_n| \le \frac{(R - R_0)^{\frac{N-2}{N-1}}}{R_0} \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} \|\nabla u_n\|_{L^{N-1,1}(\{|x| \in U\})^N} + \frac{1}{\lambda} \|\nabla u\|_{L^{N-1,1}(\{|x| \in U\})^N} + \varepsilon \right), \quad (2.68)$$

$$\| |\nabla u_n(ry)| + |\nabla u(ry)| \|_{L^{N-1,1}(S_{N-1})} < \lambda, \quad a.e. \ r \in U_n,$$
 (2.69)

$$||v_n - v||_{L^{\infty}(U_n; C^0(S_{N-1}))} \to 0.$$
 (2.70)

Proof. The proof is quite similar to the one of Lemma 2.13. As before we first note that v_n converges to v in $C^0([R_0, R]; L^1(S_{N-1}))$.

Now, take $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\delta_k > 0$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, such that for any measurable set $B \subset C(R_0, R)$ with $|B| < \delta_k$, we have

$$\|\Lambda_n\|_{L^{N-1,1}(B)} < \frac{\varepsilon^2}{2^{2k}}, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \quad \text{where } \Lambda_n := |\nabla u_n| + |\nabla u|.$$
 (2.71)

Then, consider $h_k > 0$ such that (2.59) holds, and for $r \in (R_0, R)$, $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$, denote $T_{n,k}(r)$ by

$$T_{n,k}(r) := \underset{z \in S_{N-1}}{\text{ess-sup}} \|\Lambda_n(ry)\|_{L^{N-1,1}(B(z,h_k) \cap S_{N-1})}.$$

Now, the problem is to estimate the measure of the set $E_{n,k}$ defined by

$$E_{n,k} := \left\{ r \in (R_0, R) : T_{n,k}(r) > \frac{\varepsilon}{2^k} \right\}, \quad \text{for } k, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (2.72)

For this purpose, proceeding as in the proof of Lemma 2.13 we can construct a measurable function $g:(R_0,R)\to S_{N-1}$ such that for a.e. $r\in(0,R)$,

$$\|\Lambda_n(ry)\|_{L^{N-1,1}(B(g(r),h_k)\cap S_{N-1})} = \underset{z\in S_{N-1}}{\operatorname{ess-sup}} \|\Lambda_n(ry)\|_{L^{N-1,1}(B(z,h_k)\cap S_{N-1})} = T_{n,k}(r).$$

The set B defined by (2.63) has a measure less than δ_k . Hence, using successively (2.71), Hölder's inequality and (2.72) if follows that

$$\frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{2^{2k}} \geq \|\Lambda_{n}\|_{L^{N-1,1}(B)} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\int_{R_{0}}^{R} r^{N-1} \int_{B(g(r),h_{k})\cap S_{N-1}} 1_{\{\Lambda_{n}>\lambda\}} ds(y) dr \right)^{\frac{1}{N-1}} d\lambda
\geq \frac{R_{0}}{(R-R_{0})^{\frac{N-2}{N-1}}} \int_{R_{0}}^{R} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\int_{B(g(r),h_{k})\cap S_{N-1}} 1_{\{\Lambda_{n}>\lambda\}} ds(y) \right)^{\frac{1}{N-1}} d\lambda dr
= \frac{R_{0}}{(R-R_{0})^{\frac{N-2}{N-1}}} \int_{R_{0}}^{R} \|\Lambda_{n}\|_{L^{N-1,1}(B(g(r),h_{k})\cap S_{N-1})} dr \geq \frac{R_{0}}{(R-R_{0})^{\frac{N-2}{N-1}}} \frac{\varepsilon}{2^{k}} |E_{n,k}|,$$

which implies that

$$|E_{n,k}| < \frac{(R - R_0)^{\frac{N-2}{N-1}}}{R_0} \frac{\varepsilon}{2^k}, \quad \forall k, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

$$(2.73)$$

A similar reasoning also shows that

$$\left| \left\{ r \in U : \|\Lambda_n(ry)\|_{L^{N-1,1}(S_{N-1})} \ge \lambda \right\} \right| \le \frac{(R - R_0)^{\frac{N-2}{N-1}}}{\lambda R_0} \|\Lambda_n\|_{L^{N-1,1}(\{|x| \in U\})}, \quad \forall \lambda > 0. \quad (2.74)$$

Then, defining for $\lambda > 0$, the set

$$U_n := \left\{ r \in U \setminus \bigcup_{k \in \mathbb{N}} E_{n,k} : \|\Lambda_n(ry)\|_{L^{N-1,1}(S_{N-1})} < \lambda \right\},\,$$

we deduce from (2.73) and (2.74) that (2.68) and (2.69) hold. The proof of (2.70) is similar to the one of (2.56) taking into account that the space $X^{1,N-1}(S_{N-1})$ defined by (2.53) is continuously imbedded in $C^0(S_{N-1})$.

2.4 A counterexample

In the previous section we have needed some equi-integrability condition to extend the div-curl result of Theorem 2.1 to the case

$$\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = 1 + \frac{1}{N-1}.$$

Actually, the following counterexample shows that the conclusion of Theorem 2.1 is violated in general if the sequences σ_n and η_n are only bounded in $L^p(\Omega)^{M\times N}$ and $L^q(\Omega)^{M\times N}$ with (2.44).

Let $N \geq 2$ and $p, q \geq 1$ be such that (2.44) holds. Let $\Omega := B'_1 \times (0, 1)$, where B'_1 the unit ball of \mathbb{R}^{N-1} centered at the origin. The points of Ω are denoted by (x', x_N) . We also denote by x' a point of Ω whose last coordinate is zero. Consider the functions σ_n and η_n , $n \geq 1$, defined in cylindrical coordinates by

$$\begin{cases}
\sigma_n(x) := n^{\frac{N-1}{p}} a_n(|x'|) e_N \\
\eta_n(x) := n^{\frac{N-1}{p'}} \left(a'_n(|x'|) x_N \frac{x'}{|x'|} + a_n(|x'|) e_N \right), & \text{where} \quad a_n(r) := (1-r)^n.
\end{cases} (2.75)$$

Then, we have

Proposition 2.15. The sequences σ_n and η_n defined by (2.75) satisfy

$$\operatorname{div} \sigma_n = 0, \quad \operatorname{curl} \eta_n = 0 \quad in \ \Omega, \tag{2.76}$$

$$\begin{cases}
\sigma_{n} \rightharpoonup 0 & \text{in } L^{p}(\Omega)^{N}, & \text{if } p > 1 \\
\sigma_{n} \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} |S_{N-2}| (N-2)! \left(\delta_{\{x'=0\}} \otimes 1\right) & \text{in } \mathcal{M}(\Omega)^{N}, & \text{if } p = 1, \\
\begin{cases}
\eta_{n} \rightharpoonup 0 & \text{in } L^{q}(\Omega)^{N}, & \text{if } q > 1 \\
\eta_{n} \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} 0 & \text{in } \mathcal{M}(\Omega)^{N}, & \text{if } q = 1.
\end{cases} (2.77)$$

$$\begin{cases}
\eta_n \rightharpoonup 0 & \text{in } L^q(\Omega)^N, & \text{if } q > 1 \\
\eta_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} 0 & \text{in } \mathcal{M}(\Omega)^N, & \text{if } q = 1.
\end{cases}$$
(2.78)

while

$$\sigma_n \cdot \eta_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} |S_{N-2}| \frac{(N-2)!}{2^{N-1}} \left(\delta_{\{x'=0\}} \otimes 1 \right) \text{ in } \mathcal{M}(\Omega)^N \quad (with |S_0| := 1).$$
 (2.79)

Proof. It is clear that σ_n is divergence free and η_n is curl free in Ω . Moreover, a lengthy but easy computation shows that convergences (2.77), (2.78), (2.79) are a simple consequence of

$$(1 - |x'|)^n \to 0, \quad \forall x' \in \mathbb{R}^{N-1}, \text{ with } 0 < |x'| < 1,$$
 (2.80)

$$n^{k+1} \int_0^1 r^k (1-r)^{n\alpha} dr \to \frac{k!}{\alpha^{k+1}}, \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall \alpha \ge 0.$$
 (2.81)

3 Applications

3.1 Homogenization of systems with non equi-bounded coefficients

3.1.1 A Γ-convergence approach

Let Ω be a bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^N , $N \geq 2$. Consider a symmetric non-negative tensor-valued function \mathbb{A}_n in $L^{\infty}(\Omega)^{(M\times N)^2}$ which satisfies the two following conditions:

• There exists a constant $\alpha > 0$ such that

$$\alpha \int_{\Omega} |Dv|^2 dx \le \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_n Dv : Dv dx, \quad \forall v \in H_0^1(\Omega)^M.$$
 (3.1)

• There exists a non-negative Radon measure Λ on Ω satisfying

$$\begin{cases}
|\mathbb{A}_n| \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \Lambda & \text{in } \mathscr{M}(\Omega), & \text{if } N = 2 \\
|\mathbb{A}_n|^{\rho} \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \Lambda & \text{in } \mathscr{M}(\Omega), & \text{with } \rho > \frac{N-1}{2}, & \text{if } N > 2.
\end{cases}$$
(3.2)

Consider the quadratic functional F_n defined in $L^2(\Omega)^M$ by

$$F_n(v) := \begin{cases} \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_n Dv : Dv \, dx, & \text{if } v \in H_0^1(\Omega)^M \\ \infty, & \text{if } v \in L^2(\Omega)^M \setminus H_0^1(\Omega)^M. \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

By a classical compactness result of Γ -convergence (see, e.g., [24, 6]) there exist a subsequence of n, still denoted by n, and a quadratic functional $F: L^2(\Omega)^M \to [0, \infty]$ such that F_n Γ -converges to F for the strong topology of $L^2(\Omega)^M$, namely for any $v \in L^2(\Omega)^M$,

$$\begin{cases}
\forall v_n \to v & \text{in } L^2(\Omega)^M, \quad F(v) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} F_n(v_n), \\
\exists \bar{v}_n \to v & \text{in } L^2(\Omega)^M, \quad F(v) = \lim_{n \to \infty} F_n(\bar{v}_n).
\end{cases}$$
(3.4)

Since F is quadratic, it has a bilinear form associated $\Psi: D(F) \times D(F) \to \mathbb{R}$. We recall that D(F) is a Hilbert space endowed with the scalar product defined by Ψ .

Any sequence \bar{v}_n satisfying the second statement of (3.4) is called a *recovery* sequence for F_n of limit v. Moreover, let \bar{v}_n be a sequence in $L^2(\Omega)^M$ satisfying

$$\begin{cases} \bar{v}_n \to v \text{ strongly in } L^2(\Omega)^M \\ \sup_{n \ge 0} F_n(\bar{v}_n) < \infty. \end{cases}$$
 (3.5)

If \bar{v}_n is a recovery sequence for F_n of limit v, then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_n D\bar{v}_n : Dw_n \, dx = \Psi(v, w), \qquad \forall \, w_n \in L^2(\Omega)^M, \quad \begin{cases} w_n \to w \text{ in } L^2(\Omega)^M \\ \sup_{n \ge 0} F_n(w_n) < \infty. \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

Reciprocally, if \bar{v}_n satisfies

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_n D\bar{v}_n : Dw_n \, dx = 0, \qquad \forall \, w_n \in L^2(\Omega)^M, \quad \begin{cases} w_n \to 0 \text{ strongly in } L^2(\Omega)^M \\ \sup_{n \ge 0} F_n(w_n) < \infty, \end{cases}$$
(3.7)

then \bar{v}_n is a recovery sequence.

Define the number p by

$$p := \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } N = 2\\ \frac{2\rho}{1+\rho} \in \left(\frac{2N-2}{N+1}, 2\right), & \text{if } N > 2. \end{cases}$$
 (3.8)

Then, we have the following compactness result:

Theorem 3.1. Assume that conditions (3.1), (3.2) hold. Then there exists a subsequence of n, still denoted by n, such that

$$F_n \xrightarrow{\Gamma} F,$$
 (3.9)

and there exist a symmetric non-negative bilinear operator $\nu: D(F) \to \mathcal{M}(\Omega)$, a linear operator

$$\sigma \text{ which maps } D(F) \text{ into } \begin{cases} \mathscr{M}(\Omega)^{M \times N}, & \text{if } N = 2, \ \Lambda \notin L^{1}(\Omega) \\ L^{p}(\Omega)^{M \times N}, & \text{if } N > 2 \text{ or } N = 2, \ \Lambda \in L^{1}(\Omega), \end{cases}$$
(3.10)

and a tensor-valued function

$$\mathbb{A} \in \begin{cases} \mathscr{M}(\Omega)^{(M \times N)^2}, & \text{if } N = 2, \ \Lambda \notin L^1(\Omega) \\ L^1(\Omega)^{(M \times N)^2}, & \text{if } N = 2, \ \Lambda \in L^1(\Omega) \\ L^{\rho}(\Omega)^{(M \times N)^2}, & \text{if } N > 2, \end{cases}$$

$$(3.11)$$

satisfying the following conditions:

• The operators ν and σ are strongly local in the sense

$$\begin{cases}
 u, v \in D(F) \\
 Du = Dv \text{ a.e. in } \omega \subset \Omega, \text{ open}
\end{cases}
\Rightarrow
\begin{cases}
 \nu(u, u) = \nu(v, v) \\
 \sigma(u) = \sigma(v)
\end{cases}$$
in ω . (3.12)

• The operator ν satisfies the ellipticity condition

$$\alpha \int_{\Omega} |Dv|^2 dx \le \int_{\Omega} d\nu(u, u), \quad \forall u \in D(F).$$
 (3.13)

• The tensor-valued measure A satisfy the following bounds

$$\begin{cases}
|\mathbb{A}| \leq \Lambda & \text{in } \Omega, & \text{if } N = 2 \\
|\mathbb{A}| \leq (\Lambda^L)^{\frac{1}{\rho}} & \text{a.e. in } \Omega, & \text{if } N > 2,
\end{cases}$$
(3.14)

where Λ^L is the absolute continuous part of Λ with respect to Lebesgue's measure.

- The operators ν , σ and the tensor \mathbb{A} are related by
 - For any $u, v \in D(F)$ and any open set $\omega \subset \Omega$,

$$\begin{cases}
v \in C^{1}(\omega)^{M}, & \text{if } N = 2, \ \Lambda \not\in L^{1}(\Omega) \\
v \in W^{1,p'}(\omega)^{M}, & \text{if } N > 2 \text{ or } N = 2, \ \Lambda \in L^{1}(\Omega)
\end{cases} \Rightarrow \nu(u,v) = \sigma(u) : Dv \text{ in } \omega.$$
(3.15)

- If N=2, $\Lambda \not\in L^1(\Omega)$, we have for any open set $\omega \subset \Omega$,

$$\sigma(u) = \mathbb{A}Du \ in \ \omega, \quad \forall u \in D(F) \cap C^1(\omega)^M.$$
 (3.16)

- If N = 2, $\Lambda \in L^1(\Omega)$ or N > 2, we have

$$\sigma(u) = \mathbb{A}Du \quad a.e. \quad in \ \Omega, \quad \forall u \in W_0^{1,p'}(\Omega)^M. \tag{3.17}$$

Moreover, denoting by ν^L the absolute continuous part of ν with respect to Lebesgue's measure, we have

$$\mathbb{A}Du: Dv \in L^1(\Omega), \quad \nu^L(u,v) = \mathbb{A}Du: Dv \ a.e. \ in \ \Omega, \qquad \forall u,v \in D(F),$$
 (3.18)

• The functional F is given by

$$F(u) = \int_{\Omega} d\nu(u, u), \quad \forall u \in D(F).$$
 (3.19)

• For any recovery sequence u_n for F_n of limit $u \in D(F)$, we have

$$\mathbb{A}_n Du_n : Du_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \nu(u, u) \quad in \ \mathscr{M}(\Omega), \tag{3.20}$$

$$\mathbb{A}_n Du_n \rightharpoonup \sigma(u) \quad \begin{cases} weakly * in \mathcal{M}(\Omega)^{M \times N}, & \text{if } N = 2\\ weakly & \text{in } L^{p'}(\Omega)^{M \times N}, & \text{if } N > 2. \end{cases}$$
 (3.21)

Remark 3.2. Assuming N > 2 or N = 2, $\Lambda \in L^1(\Omega)$. We deduce from (3.15), (3.17) and (3.19), the following integral representation of F

$$F(u) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}Du : Du \, dx, \quad \forall \, u \in W_0^{1,p'}(\Omega)^M. \tag{3.22}$$

If N = 2, $\Lambda \notin L^1(\Omega)$, the above representation is also true for $u \in D(F) \cap C^1(\Omega)$, but in this case the integral must be understood as an integral with respect to the measure \mathbb{A} and not with respect to Lebesgue's measure.

Remark 3.3. Let f_n be a sequence which converges strongly to some f in $H^{-1}(\Omega)^M$ and let u_n be the solution of

$$\begin{cases}
-\operatorname{Div}\left(\mathbb{A}_n D u_n\right) = f_n & \text{in } \Omega \\ u_n \in H_0^1(\Omega)^M.
\end{cases}$$
(3.23)

By (3.1) $F_n(u_n)$ is bounded, and thus, up to a subsequence, there exists $u \in D(F)$ such that u_n converges weakly to u in $H_0^1(\Omega)$. Since F_n Γ -converges to F, this implies that u_n is a recovery sequence for F_n and that u is the solution of

$$\begin{cases}
 u \in D(F) \\
 \Psi(u, v) = \langle f, v \rangle, \quad \forall v \in D(F),
\end{cases}$$
(3.24)

where Ψ the bilinear form associated with F. By a uniqueness argument it is not necessary to extract any subsequence. Moreover, convergence (3.21) implies that u is a solution of

$$- \operatorname{Div} \sigma(u) = f \text{ in } \Omega, \tag{3.25}$$

which taking into account (3.16), (3.17), can be read as

$$- \operatorname{Div}(ADu) = f \text{ in } \Omega, \tag{3.26}$$

in the following cases: N > 2, N = 2 and $\Lambda \in L^1(\Omega)$, N = 2 and $u \in C^1(\Omega)$.

Remark 3.4. When N=2, the boundedness of \mathbb{A}_n in $L^1(\Omega)^{(M\times N)^2}$ ensures the convergence (3.21) of the flux. Similar compactness results in dimension two were obtained in the conductivity case [11, 12] and in the elasticity case [10]. When N>2, convergence (3.21) holds when \mathbb{A}_n is bounded in $L^{\rho}(\Omega)^{M\times N}$ with $\rho>(N-1)/2$. This condition is stronger than the equi-integrability of \mathbb{A}_n in $L^1(\Omega)^{M\times N}$, which leads to a compactness result in the scalar case of [19] (M=1). The proof of the scalar case is based on the maximum principle which does not hold for systems (M>1).

Proof of Theorem 3.1. First all, note that by Hölder's inequality and (3.8) we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_{n} Du : Du \, dx \leq \begin{cases}
\left(\int_{\Omega} |\mathbb{A}_{n}| \, dx \right) \|Du\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)^{M \times N}}, & \text{if } N = 2 \\
\left(\int_{\Omega} |\mathbb{A}_{n}|^{\rho} \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{\rho}} \left(\int_{\Omega} |Du|^{p'} \, dx \right)^{\frac{2}{p'}}, & \text{if } N > 2,
\end{cases} \quad \forall u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega)^{M},$$

which combined with condition (3.2) implies that the domain of the Γ -limit satisfies

$$D(F) \supset \begin{cases} W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega)^M, & \text{if } N = 2\\ W_0^{1,p'}(\Omega)^M, & \text{if } N > 2. \end{cases}$$
 (3.27)

As above mentioned the existence of a subsequence of n and a functional F satisfying (3.9) is well known. The proof is divided in three steps.

First step: Determination of the operators σ and μ .

 β From (3.1) we deduce the inequality

$$\alpha \int_{\Omega} |Dv|^2 dx \le F(v), \quad \forall v \in D(F), \tag{3.28}$$

which combined with $C_0^1(\Omega)^M \subset D(F)$ shows that D(F) is continuously and densely imbedded in $H_0^1(\Omega)^M$, and thus that $H^{-1}(\Omega)^M$ is continuously and densely imbedded in D(F)'.

Denoting by $\Psi: D(F) \times D(F) \to \mathbb{R}$ the bilinear form associated with F and taking a countable dense subset \mathscr{E} of $L^2(\Omega)^M$, define the set E by

$$E := \left\{ u \in D(F) : \exists f \in \mathscr{E}, \ \Psi(u, v) = \int_{\Omega} f \cdot v \, dx, \ \forall v \in D(F) \right\}$$
 (3.29)

which is a dense and countable subset of D(F).

For $f \in \mathcal{E}$, consider the solution u_n of

$$\begin{cases}
-\operatorname{Div}\left(\mathbb{A}_n D u_n\right) = f & \text{in } \Omega \\ u_n \in H_0^1(\Omega)^M. \end{cases}$$
(3.30)

By (3.1) the sequence u_n satisfies the estimate

$$\int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_n Du_n : Du_n \, dx + \int_{\Omega} |Du_n|^2 \, dx \le C. \tag{3.31}$$

Hence, up to a subsequence, there exist $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)^M$ and $\mu_u \in \mathcal{M}(\Omega)^M$ such that

$$u_n \rightharpoonup u \text{ in } H_0^1(\Omega)^M,$$
 (3.32)

$$\mathbb{A}_n Du_n : Du_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \mu_u \text{ in } \mathscr{M}(\Omega). \tag{3.33}$$

Taking into account that (3.30) implies (3.7), we deduce that u_n is a recovery sequence for F_n of limit u and that

$$\Psi(u,v) = \int_{\Omega} f \cdot v \, dx, \quad \forall \, v \in D(F), \tag{3.34}$$

Hence, u is the element of E associated with the function $f \in \mathcal{E}$ and

$$\mu_u(\Omega) = F(u). \tag{3.35}$$

By Hölder's inequality we have for any $\phi \in C_0^0(\Omega)$, $\phi \geq 0$,

$$\int_{\Omega} |\mathbb{A}_n D u_n|^p \phi \, dx \le \int_{\Omega} (\mathbb{A}_n D u_n : D u_n)^{\frac{p}{2}} |\mathbb{A}_n|^{\frac{p}{2}} \phi \, dx
\le \left(\int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_n D u_n : D u_n \phi \, dx \right)^{\frac{p}{2}} \left(\int_{\Omega} |\mathbb{A}_n|^{\frac{p}{2-p}} \phi \, dx \right)^{1-\frac{p}{2}}
= \left(\int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_n D u_n : D u_n \phi \, dx \right)^{\frac{p}{2}} \left(\int_{\Omega} |\mathbb{A}_n|^{\rho} \phi \, dx \right)^{1-\frac{p}{2}} .$$

Hence, we deduce the existence of σ_u such that

$$\begin{cases}
\mathbb{A}_n D u_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \sigma_u & \text{in } \mathcal{M}(\Omega)^{M \times N}, & \text{if } N = 2 \\
\mathbb{A}_n D u_n \rightharpoonup \sigma_u & \text{in } L^p(\Omega)^{M \times N}, & |\mathbb{A}_n D u_n|^p \text{ equi-integrable, if } N > 2,
\end{cases}$$
(3.36)

and by (3.2) for any $\Phi \in C_0^0(\Omega)^{M \times N}$,

$$\int_{\Omega} \sigma_{u} : \Phi \, dx \leq \begin{cases}
\left(\int_{\Omega} |\Phi| \, d\mu_{u} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{\Omega} |\Phi| \, d\Lambda \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, & \text{if } N = 2 \\
\left(\int_{\Omega} |\Phi| \, d\mu_{u} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{\Omega} |\Phi| \, d\Lambda \right)^{\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{\Omega} |\Phi| \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} & \text{if } N > 2.
\end{cases}$$
(3.37)

By (3.27) and (3.30) σ_u also satisfies

$$\int_{\Omega} \sigma_u : Dv \, dx = \Psi(u, v), \quad \forall \, v \in \begin{cases} C_0^1(\Omega)^M, & \text{if } N = 2\\ W_0^{1, p'}(\Omega)^M, & \text{if } N > 2. \end{cases}$$
(3.38)

Since \mathscr{E} is countable, these subsequences can be chosen independently of f. Moreover, taking two elements $f, g \in \mathscr{E}$, and denoting by u, μ_u , σ_u and by v, μ_v , σ_v the above defined elements associated with f and g respectively, we have

$$\|\mu_{u} - \mu_{v}\|_{\mathscr{M}(\Omega)} \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} |A_{n}Du_{n} : Du_{n} - A_{n}Dv_{n} : Dv_{n}| dx$$

$$= \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} |A_{n}D(u_{n} + v_{n}) : D(u_{n} - v_{n})| dx$$

$$\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(\int_{\Omega} A_{n}D(u_{n} + v_{n}) : D(u_{n} + v_{n}) dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{\Omega} A_{n}D(u_{n} - v_{n}) : D(u_{n} - v_{n}) dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= \|u + v\|_{D(F)} \|u - v\|_{D(F)}.$$
(3.39)

and (in the case $N=2,\,L^p(\Omega)^{M\times N}$ must be replaced by $\mathcal{M}(\Omega)^{M\times N}$)

$$\|\sigma_{u} - \sigma_{v}\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)^{M \times N}}^{p} \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \left| \mathbb{A}_{n} D(u_{n} - v_{n}) \right|^{p} dx$$

$$\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left(\int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_{n} D(u_{n} - v_{n}) : D(u_{n} - v_{n}) dx \right)^{\frac{p}{2}} \left(\int_{\Omega} |\mathbb{A}_{n}|^{\rho} dx \right)^{1 - \frac{p}{2}}$$

$$\leq C \|u - v\|_{D(F)}^{p}.$$

$$(3.40)$$

This estimate allows us to extend by continuity the operators

$$u \in E \mapsto \mu_u \in \mathscr{M}(\Omega)$$
 and $u \in E \mapsto \sigma_u \in \begin{cases} \mathscr{M}(\Omega)^{M \times N}, & \text{if } N = 2\\ L^p(\Omega)^{M \times N}, & \text{if } N > 2, \end{cases}$

to operators defined in the whole domain D(F), that we denote by σ and μ . It is easy to check that μ is quadratic and σ is linear. Moreover, by (3.39) and (3.40) μ and σ satisfy

$$\|\mu(u) - \mu(v)\|_{\mathscr{M}(\Omega)} \le \|u + v\|_{D(F)} \|u - v\|_{D(F)}, \quad \forall u, v \in D(F),$$
(3.41)

$$\begin{cases}
\|\sigma(u)\|_{\mathscr{M}(\Omega)^{M\times N}} \le C \|u\|_{D(F)}, & \text{if } N=2 \\
\|\sigma(u)\|_{L^{p}(\Omega)^{M\times N}} \le C \|u\|_{D(F)}, & \text{if } N>2,
\end{cases}$$
(3.42)

$$\int_{\Omega} d\mu(u) = F(u), \quad \forall u \in D(F), \tag{3.43}$$

$$\int_{\Omega} \sigma(u) : Dv \, dx = \Psi(u, v), \quad \forall v \in \begin{cases} C_0^1(\Omega)^M & \text{if } N = 2\\ W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)^M, & \text{if } N > 2, \end{cases} \quad \forall u \in D(F).$$
 (3.44)

Moreover, observe that for a given recovery sequence \bar{u}_n of limit $\bar{u} \in D(F)$, taking $f \in \mathscr{E}$ and u_n , u the solutions of (3.30), (3.34), we have for any $\phi \in C_0^0(\Omega)$,

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_{n} D\bar{u}_{n} : D\bar{u}_{n} \phi \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \phi \, d\mu(\bar{u}) \right| \leq \left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_{n} D\bar{u}_{n} : D\bar{u}_{n} \phi \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_{n} Du_{n} : Du_{n} \phi \, dx \right| + \left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_{n} Du_{n} : Du_{n} \phi \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \phi \, d\mu(u) \right| + \left| \int_{\Omega} \phi \, d\mu(u) - \int_{\Omega} \phi \, d\mu(\bar{u}) \right|.$$

$$(3.45)$$

Using that $\bar{u}_n + u_n$ and $\bar{u}_n - u_n$ are recovery sequences of limits $\bar{u} + u$ and $\bar{u} - u$ respectively, we also have

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_{n} D\bar{u}_{n} : D\bar{u}_{n} \phi \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_{n} Du_{n} : Du_{n} \phi \, dx \right|
\leq \|\phi\|_{C_{0}^{0}(\Omega)} \int_{\Omega} \left| \mathbb{A}_{n} D(\bar{u}_{n} + u_{n}) : D(\bar{u}_{n} - u_{n}) \right| dx
\leq \|\phi\|_{C_{0}^{0}(\Omega)} \left(\int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_{n} D(\bar{u}_{n} + u_{n}) : D(\bar{u}_{n} + u_{n}) \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_{n} (D\bar{u}_{n} - u_{n}) : D(\bar{u}_{n} - u_{n}) \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}
\rightarrow \|\phi\|_{C_{0}^{0}(\Omega)} \|\bar{u} + u\|_{D(F)} \|\bar{u} - u\|_{D(F)}.$$

Therefore, taking the limsup in (3.45) and using (3.33), (3.41), we get that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left| \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_n D\bar{u}_n : D\bar{u}_n \,\phi \,dx - \int_{\Omega} \phi \,d\mu(\bar{u}) \right| \leq 2 \, \|\phi\|_{C_0^0(\Omega)} \, \|\bar{u} + u\|_{D(F)} \, \|\bar{u} - u\|_{D(F)},$$

which by the density of E in D(F) implies that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{A}_n D\bar{u}_n : D\bar{u}_n \,\phi \, dx = \int_{\Omega} \phi \, d\mu(\bar{u}), \quad \forall \, \phi \in C_0^0(\Omega),$$

Therefore, (3.33) holds for any $u \in D(F)$ and any recovery sequence u_n of limit u. Analogously, (3.36) holds for any $u \in D(F)$ and any recovery sequence u_n of limit u.

From the quadratic mapping $u \in D(F) \mapsto \mu(u) \in \mathcal{M}(\Omega)$, we can now construct the associated bilinear operator $\nu : D(F) \times D(F) \to \mathcal{M}(\Omega)$, defined by

$$\nu(u,v) := \frac{1}{4} \left(\mu(u+v) - \mu(u-v) \right), \quad \forall u, v \in D(F), \tag{3.46}$$

which satisfies

$$\mathbb{A}_n Du_n : Dv_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \nu(u, v) \quad \text{in } \mathscr{M}(\Omega), \tag{3.47}$$

for any $u, v \in D(F)$ and any recovery sequences u_n and v_n of limits u and v respectively.

Second step: Use of the div-curl result for the derivation of σ and μ .

ßLet u_n be the solution of equation (3.30) with $f \in E \subset D(F)$, and let v_n be a recovery sequence of limit $v \in D(F)$. Let us check that the sequences $\sigma_n := \mathbb{A}_n Du_n$ and $\eta_n := Dv_n$ satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 2.1:

First, by convergences (3.32) and (3.36) σ_n and η_n satisfy (2.4) and (2.5), where $p \in (1, 2)$ and q = 2 are such that

$$\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{2} = 1 + \frac{1}{2\rho} < 1 + \frac{1}{N-1},$$

as well as condition (2.2) with $s_n = 2$. Next, by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality combined with the boundedness of $F_n(u_n)$ and $F_n(v_n)$, the sequence $\sigma_n : \eta_n = \mathbb{A}_n Du_n : Dv_n$ is bounded in $L^1(\Omega)$, so that convergence (2.3) holds (see the comment after (1.15)).

Then, the limit formulation (2.8) of Theorem 2.1 shows that

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi \, d\nu(u, v) = \int_{\Omega} f \cdot v \, \psi \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \left(\sigma(u) \nabla \psi \right) \cdot v \, dx,\tag{3.48}$$

where $\psi(x) := \varphi(|x - x_0|)$, and φ satisfying the conditions (2.8) or (2.14) depending if N > 2 or N = 2.

In particular, we can take in (3.48) a function $v \in D(F)$ such that for some open set $\omega \subset \Omega$,

$$v \in \begin{cases} C^{1}(\omega)^{M}, & \text{if } N = 2, \ \Lambda \notin L^{1}(\Omega) \\ W^{1,p'}(\omega)^{M}, & \text{if } N > 2 \text{ or } N = 2, \ \Lambda \in L^{1}(\Omega), \end{cases}$$

$$(3.49)$$

a ball $B(x_0, R) \subset \omega$, and a function $\varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0, \infty)$ with supp $\varphi \subset [0, R]$. Also using that (3.34) and (3.38) imply

$$- \operatorname{Div} \sigma(u) = f \quad \text{in } \mathscr{D}'(\Omega), \tag{3.50}$$

and that by (3.37) (which by continuity holds for any $u \in D(F)$) we have $\sigma(u) \in L^1(\Omega)^{M \times N}$ if $\Lambda \in L^1(\Omega)$, we get that

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi \, d\nu(u, v) = \int_{\Omega} \sigma(u) : D(v\psi) \, dx - \int_{\Omega} \left(\sigma(u) \nabla \psi \right) \cdot v \, dx = \int_{\Omega} \sigma(u) : Dv \, \psi \, dx.$$

Taking in this equality $u = v_k \in E$ converging to v in D(F), it follows that

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi \, d\mu(v) = \int_{\Omega} \sigma(v) : Dv \, \psi \, dx, \tag{3.51}$$

for any radial function ψ with respect to some $x_0 \in \omega$ and with support in ω . By (3.37) we then have

$$\int_{\Omega} \sigma(v) : \Phi \, dx \le \begin{cases} \left(\int_{\Omega} \sigma(v) : Dv \, |\Phi| \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{\Omega} |\Phi| \, d\Lambda \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, & \text{if } N = 2 \\ \left(\int_{\Omega} \sigma(v) : Dv \, |\Phi| \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{\Omega} |\Phi| \, d\Lambda \right)^{\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{\Omega} |\Phi| \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}}, & \text{if } N > 2, \end{cases}$$

for any $\Phi \in C_0^0(\omega)^{M \times N}$ radial with respect to some $x_0 \in \omega$. By the measures derivation theorem this yields

$$\begin{cases}
\sigma(v) = H_v \Lambda \text{ with } |H_v| \le (H_v : Dv)^{\frac{1}{2}} & \Lambda\text{-a.e. in } \omega, \text{ if } N = 2 \\
|\sigma(v)| \le (\sigma(v) : Dv)^{\frac{1}{2}} (\Lambda^L)^{\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{2}} & \text{a.e. in } \omega, \text{ if } N > 2,
\end{cases}$$
(3.52)

Therefore, for any function v satisfying (3.49), we obtain the estimates

$$\begin{cases}
\sigma(v) = H_v \Lambda & \text{with } |H_v| \le |Dv| \quad \Lambda\text{-a.e. in } \omega, & \text{if } N = 2 \\
|\sigma(v)| \le |Dv| \left(\Lambda^L\right)^{\frac{2}{p} - 1} & \text{a.e. in } \omega, & \text{if } N > 2.
\end{cases}$$
(3.53)

Third step: Expressions of σ and μ in terms of the limit tensor \mathbb{A} .

ßLet Ω_k , $k \geq 1$, be an exhaustive sequence of open sets in Ω such that

$$\forall k \ge 1, \ \overline{\Omega_k} \subset \Omega_{k+1} \quad \text{and} \quad \bigcup_{k>1} \Omega_k = \Omega.$$
 (3.54)

We associate with the open sets Ω_k the functions ϕ_k satisfying

$$\forall k \ge 1, \quad \phi_k \in C_c^1(\Omega_{k+1}) \text{ and } \phi_k \equiv 1 \text{ in } \Omega_k.$$
 (3.55)

Then, define the tensor-valued measure \mathbb{A} by

$$\mathbb{A}(f_i \otimes e_j) := \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sigma_{(\phi_k x_j f_i)} 1_{\Omega_k}, \quad \text{for } 1 \le i \le M, \ 1 \le j \le N.$$
 (3.56)

Given $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times N}$ and applying (3.53) to the functions $v - \phi_k \xi x$, we have

$$\begin{cases} \sigma(v) - \mathbb{A}\xi = H_{(v-\phi_k\xi x)}\Lambda \text{ with } |H_{v-\phi_k\xi x}| \leq |Dv - \xi| & \Lambda\text{-a.e. in } \omega \cap \Omega_k, & \text{if } N = 2\\ |\sigma(v) - \mathbb{A}\xi| \leq |Dv - \xi| \left(\Lambda^L\right)^{\frac{2}{p} - 1} & \text{a.e. in } \omega \cap \Omega_k, & \text{if } N > 2. \end{cases}$$

Therefore, we get that

$$\sigma(v) = \mathbb{A}Dv \text{ in } \omega, \text{ for any } v \in D(F) \text{ satisfying (3.49)}.$$
 (3.57)

By (3.51) we also have

$$\mu(v) = \mathbb{A}Dv : Dv \text{ in } \omega, \text{ for any } v \in D(F) \text{ satisfying (3.49)}.$$
 (3.58)

As a consequence, we obtain that if $u_1, u_2 \in D(F)$ are such that there exists an open set $\omega \subset \Omega$ with $Du_1 = Du_2$ in ω , then $\sigma(u_1 - u_2) = 0$ and $\mu(u_1 - u_2) = 0$ on ω . Hence, from the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality we deduce that

$$\sigma(u_1) - \sigma(u_2) = \sigma(u_1 - u_2) = 0 \text{ in } \omega,$$
 (3.59)

$$\|\mu(u_1) - \mu(u_2)\|_{\mathscr{M}(\omega)} = \|\nu(u_1 + u_2, u_1 - u_2)\|_{\mathscr{M}(\omega)}$$

$$\leq \|\mu(u_1 + u_2)\|_{\mathscr{M}(\omega)}^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\mu(u_1 - u_2)\|_{\mathscr{M}(\omega)}^{\frac{1}{2}} = 0,$$
(3.60)

which establishes the local property (3.12) of σ and ν .

From now on, assume that N > 2 or N = 2 and $\Lambda \in L^1(\Omega)$, which implies that $\sigma(u)$ belongs to $L^p(\Omega)^{M \times N}$ for any $u \in D(F)$. For a function $u \in E$ and a ball $B(x_0, 2R) \subset \Omega$, define

$$\bar{u} := \frac{1}{|B_{2R}|} \int_{B(x_0, 2R)} u \, dx,$$

$$U := \left\{ r \in (R, 2R) : \int_{\partial B(x_0, r)} (|u - \bar{u}|^2 + r^2 |Du|^2) \, ds(x) \right\}$$

$$\leq \frac{2}{R} \int_{B(x_0, 2R)} (|u - \bar{u}|^2 + |x - x_0|^2 |Du|^2) \, dx \right\}.$$

The set U satisfies

$$\left| (R, 2R) \setminus U \right| \le \frac{R/2}{\int_{B(x_0, 2R)} (|u - \bar{u}|^2 + |x - x_0|^2 |Du|^2) \, dx} \int_R^{2R} \int_{\partial B(x_0, r)} (|u - \bar{u}|^2 + r^2 |Du|^2) \, ds(x) \, dr \le \frac{R}{2},$$

hence $|U| \geq R/2$.

Next, define

$$\varphi(r) := \frac{1}{|U|} \int_r^{2R} 1_U ds$$
, for $r \ge 0$, and $\psi(x) := \varphi(|x - x_0|)$, for $x \in \Omega$,

and $v := u - \bar{u} \phi$, for $\phi \in C_c^1(\Omega)$ with $\phi \equiv 1$ in $B(x_0, 2R)$. By the local property (3.12) we have $\mu(u) = \nu(u, v)$ in $B(x_0, 2R)$. Putting this in formula (3.48) and noting that $\psi \equiv 1$ in $B(x_0, R)$, we obtain

$$\left| \mu(u) \left(\bar{B}(x_0, R) \right) \right| \leq \int_{\Omega} \psi \, d\mu(u) = \int_{\Omega} f \cdot (u - \bar{u}) \, \psi \, dx + \int_{\Omega} \left(\sigma(u) \nabla \psi \right) \cdot (u - \bar{u}) \, dx.$$

First, using Poincaré-Wirtinger's inequality in $B(x_0, 2R)$ and Hölder's inequality in $\partial B(x_0, r)$, second Sobolev's imbedding of $H^1(\partial B(x_0, r))$ into $L^{p'}(\partial B(x_0, r))$ (recall that $\frac{1}{p} > \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{N-1}$), third the definition of U, Hölder's inequality in (R, 2R) and again Poincaré-Wirtinger's inequality in

 $B(x_0, 2R)$, we get that

$$\begin{split} & \left| \mu(u) \left(\bar{B}(x_0, R) \right) \right| \\ & \leq CR \left(\int_{B(x_0, 2R)} |f|^2 \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{B(x_0, 2R)} |Du|^2 \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \quad + \frac{2}{R} \int_{U} \left(\int_{\partial B(x_0, r)} |\sigma(u)|^p \, ds(x) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{\partial B(x_0, r)} |u - \bar{u}|^{p'} \, ds(x) \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \, dr \\ & \leq CR \left(\int_{B(x_0, 2R)} |f|^2 \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{B(x_0, 2R)} |Du|^2 \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \quad + CR^{(N-1)(\frac{1}{p'} - \frac{1}{2}) - 1} \int_{U} \left(\int_{\partial B(x_0, r)} |\sigma(u)|^p \, ds(x) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{\partial B(x_0, r)} \left(|u - \bar{u}|^2 + r^2 |Du|^2 \right) ds(x) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \, dr \\ & \leq CR \left(\int_{B(x_0, 2R)} |f|^2 \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{B(x_0, 2R)} |Du|^2 \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \quad + CR^{N(\frac{1}{p'} - \frac{1}{2})} \left(\int_{B(x_0, 2R)} |\sigma(u)|^p \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{B(x_0, 2R)} |Du|^2 \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

Dividing this inequality by $|B(x_0, R)|$ and passing to the limit as R tends to zero, we deduce that

$$\left|\mu^{L}(u)\right| \le C\left|\sigma(u)\right|\left|Du\right|$$
 a.e. in Ω , (3.61)

where $\mu^L(u)$ denotes the absolute continuous component of $\mu(u)$ with respect to Lebesgue's measure. On the other hand, also remark that (3.37) also implies that

$$|\sigma(u)| \le |\mu^L(u)|^{\frac{1}{2}} (\Lambda^L)^{\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{2}}$$
 a.e. in Ω ,

which combined to (3.61) gives

$$|\sigma(u)| \le C |Du| (\Lambda^L)^{\frac{2}{p}-1}$$
 a.e. in Ω .

This inequality is similar to (3.53) (which was proved for v smooth), and thus reasoning as for the derivation of (3.57), we get that

$$\sigma(u) = ADu$$
 a.e. in Ω , (3.62)

for any $u \in E$, and then by continuity for any $u \in D(F)$. Returning to (3.61) and taking into account the density of E in D(F), we also have

$$|\mu^L(u)| \le C |ADu| |Du|$$
 a.e. in Ω , $\forall u \in D(F)$.

Using this inequality with u replaced by $u - \xi x$, $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times N}$, and recalling that the mapping $u \mapsto \mu_L$ is quadratic and nonnegative, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| \mu^{L}(u) - \mathbb{A}\xi : \xi \right| \leq \left| \mu^{L}(u) - \mu^{L}(\xi x) \right| \leq \left| \mu^{L}(u + \xi x) \right|^{\frac{1}{2}} \left| \mu^{L}(u - \xi x) \right|^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \leq C \left| \mathbb{A}(Du + \xi) \right|^{\frac{1}{2}} \left| Du + \xi \right|^{\frac{1}{2}} \left| \mathbb{A}(Du - \xi) \right|^{\frac{1}{2}} \left| Du - \xi \right|^{\frac{1}{2}} \quad \text{a.e. in } \Omega, \ \forall \, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{N}. \end{aligned}$$

This finally shows that

$$\mu^{L}(u) = \mathbb{A}Du : Du \text{ a.e. in } \Omega, \quad \forall u \in D(F).$$
 (3.63)

3.1.2 A H-convergence approach

We have the following H-convergence type result. Is is similar to Theorem 3.1 but with different assumptions, which allow to treat the case of non-symmetric tensor-valued functions \mathbb{A}_n .

Theorem 3.5. Let \mathbb{A}_n be a non-negative tensor-valued function in $L^{\infty}(\Omega)^{(M\times N)^2}$ which satisfies conditions (3.1) and (3.2) with $\Lambda \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Also assume that there exists a constant C>0 such that

$$\left(\mathbb{A}_{n}\xi:\eta\right)^{2} \leq C\left(\mathbb{A}_{n}\xi:\xi\right)\left(\mathbb{A}_{n}\eta:\eta\right) \quad a.e. \ in \ \Omega, \ \forall \, \xi,\eta \in \mathbb{R}^{M\times N}. \tag{3.64}$$

Then, there exist a subsequence of n, still denoted by n, and a tensor-valued function \mathbb{A} in $L^{\infty}(\Omega)^{(M\times N)^2}$ satisfying (3.1) and

$$|A| \le C \|\Lambda\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \quad a.e. \text{ in } \Omega, \tag{3.65}$$

such that for any $f \in H^{-1}(\Omega)^M$, the solution u_n in $H_0^1(\Omega)^M$ of the equation

$$-\operatorname{Div}\left(\mathbb{A}_n D u_n\right) = f \quad in \ \Omega \tag{3.66}$$

satisfies the convergences

$$u_n \rightharpoonup u \text{ weakly in } H_0^1(\Omega)^M, \quad \mathbb{A}_n D u_n \rightharpoonup \mathbb{A} D u \begin{cases} \text{in } \mathscr{M}(\Omega)^{M \times N} *, & \text{if } N = 2 \\ \text{in } L^p(\Omega)^{M \times N}, & \text{if } N > 2, \end{cases}$$
 (3.67)

where u is the solution in $H_0^1(\Omega)^M$ of the equation

$$- \operatorname{Div}(ADu) = f \quad in \ \Omega. \tag{3.68}$$

Remark 3.6. The extra condition (3.64) compensates the fact that \mathbb{A}_n is not necessarily symmetric. The price to pay with respect to the Γ-convergence result of Theorem 3.1 is that the limit Λ of (3.2) needs to be in $L^{\infty}(\Omega)$.

Remark 3.7. Theorem 3.5 is an extension to non equi-bounded coefficients of the classical H-convergence of Murat-Tartar [36, 45]. In dimension two Theorem 3.5 includes the scalar case of [11] and the elasticity case of [10]. In higher dimension it generalizes the H-convergence of [15] thanks to the improvement of the div-curl result.

The proof of Theorem 3.5 follows the same scheme as the Murat-Tartar H-convergence [36] and some of its extensions [11, 15, 10]. In particular it is quite similar to the proof of Theorem 5.2 [15] restricted to the linear case, using the new div-curl result of Theorem 2.1. So we omit it.

3.2 Weak continuity of the Jacobian

Let Ω be a regular bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^N , $N \geq 2$. It is well known that the distributional determinant defined for $u = (u^1, \dots, u^N) : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^N$ by (where cof denotes the cofactors matrix)

$$\operatorname{Det}(Du) := \sum_{j=1}^{N} \partial_{j} \left[u^{i} \operatorname{cof}(Du)_{ij} \right], \quad \text{for } 1 \leq i \leq N,$$
(3.69)

agrees with the determinant $\det(Du)$ if $u \in W^{1,N}(\Omega)^N$ (see, e.g., [22], Lemma 2.7 for further details), but the situation is more delicate if u is less regular. There has been a lot of works

about the distributional determinant, its link with the determinant and its weak continuity; we refer to [1, 2, 22, 23, 33, 35] for various contributions in the topic. In particular, Müller showed [35] that

$$Det(Du) = det(Du), \quad \forall u \in W^{1,s}(\Omega)^N, \ \forall s \ge \frac{N^2}{N+1}, \tag{3.70}$$

whenever $\operatorname{Det}(Du) \in L^1(\Omega)$. In connection with this result, one has (see [1, 23], and also [30, 28] for refinements)

$$u_n \rightharpoonup u \text{ in } W^{1,s}(\Omega)^N \Rightarrow \operatorname{Det}(Du_n) \rightharpoonup \operatorname{Det}(Du) \text{ in } \mathscr{D}'(\Omega), \quad \forall \, s > \frac{N^2}{N+1}.$$
 (3.71)

Up to our knowledge the most recent result is due to Brezis and Nguyen [8] who proved that for any $s \in [N-1, \infty]$ and for any vector-valued functions u_n, u in $L^{\infty}(\Omega)^N$,

$$u_n \to u \quad \text{in } W^{1,s}(\Omega)^N$$

$$u_n \to u \quad \text{in } L^{\frac{s}{s-N+1}}(\Omega)^N, \quad \text{or}$$

$$u_n \to u \quad \text{in } BMO(\Omega)^N, \quad \text{if } s = N-1 \ge 2$$

$$\Rightarrow \text{ Det } (Du_n) \to \text{Det } (Du) \quad \text{in } \mathscr{D}'(\Omega). \quad (3.72)$$

In view of the div-curl results of Section 2, we will prove a weak continuity result for the Jacobian assuming that $\text{Det}(Du_n)$ converges weakly in $W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$ and that u_n converges slightly better than weakly in $W^{1,N-1}(\Omega)$.

Theorem 3.8. Let Ω be a bounded open set of \mathbb{R}^N , with $N \geq 2$. Consider a sequence u_n in $W^{1,N}(\Omega)^M$ satisfying

$$Det (Du_n) \rightharpoonup \mu \quad in \ W^{-1,1}(\Omega). \tag{3.73}$$

We have the following alternative:

• Assume that there exists s > N-1 such that

$$u_n \rightharpoonup u \quad in \ W^{1,s}(\Omega)^N.$$
 (3.74)

If $u \in W^{1,N}(\Omega)^N$, then $\mu = \text{Det}(Du)$. Otherwise, μ is given by the weak formulation

$$\begin{cases}
\forall B(x_0, R) \in \Omega, \ \forall \varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0, \infty), \ with \ \text{supp} \varphi \subset [0, R], \\
\langle \mu, \psi \rangle = -\int_{\Omega} \left(\sum_{j=1}^{N} \cot(Du)_{1j} \, \partial_j \psi \, u^1 \right) dx, \quad where \ \psi(x) := \varphi(|x - x_0|).
\end{cases}$$
(3.75)

• Or else, assume that

$$u_n \rightharpoonup u \quad \begin{cases} in \ W^{1,N-1}(\Omega)^N, & if \ N > 2 \\ in \ BV(\Omega)^N*, & if \ N = 2, \end{cases}$$
 (3.76)

and that ∇u_n^1 belongs to $L^{N-1,1}(\Omega)^N$ with the equi-integrability condition

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \ \exists \delta > 0, \ \|\nabla u_n^1\|_{L^{N-1,1}(E)^{M\times N}} \le \varepsilon, \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \ \forall E \ measurable \subset \Omega, \ |E| < \delta. \ (3.77)$$

If $u \in W^{1,N}(\Omega)^N$, then $\mu = \text{Det}(Du)$. Otherwise, μ is given by the weak formulation

$$\begin{cases}
\forall B(x_0, R) \in \Omega, \ \forall \varphi \in W^{1,\infty}(0, \infty), \ with \ \text{supp} \ \varphi \subset [0, R], \ such \ that \\
\exists U closed \ set \ of \ [0, R], \ with \ u(x_0 + ry) \in C^0(U; X^{1,N-1}(S_{N-1}))^M, \ \text{supp} \ (\varphi') \subset U, \\
\langle \mu, \psi \rangle = -\int_{\Omega} \left(\sum_{j=1}^N \cot (Du)_{1j} \partial_j \psi \ u^1 \right) dx, \quad where \ \psi(x) := \varphi(|x - x_0|),
\end{cases}$$

$$(3.78)$$

$$(3.78)$$

and $X^{1,N-1}(S_{N-1})$ is the space defined by (2.53).

Remark 3.9. The first case of Theorem 3.8 provides an improvement of the weak continuity (3.72) with s > N - 1, given in [8]. Indeed, if a sequence u_n converges weakly in $W^{1,s}\Omega$) and strongly in $L^{\frac{s}{s-N+1}}(\Omega)^N$, then by the classical weak convergence of the Jacobian (see, e.g., [22], Corollary 2.8) cof (Du_n) converges to cof (Du) in $L^{\frac{s}{N-1}}(\Omega)^{N\times N}$. Hence, since the exponents $\frac{s}{s-N+1}$ and $\frac{s}{N-1}$ are conjugate, we obtain the weak convergence

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} u_n^1 \operatorname{cof} (Du_n)_{1j} \rightharpoonup \sum_{j=1}^{N} u^1 \operatorname{cof} (Du)_{1j} \quad \text{in } L^1(\Omega),$$

which thus implies assumption (3.73). More generally, a sufficient condition to ensure assumption (3.73) is that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} u_n^1 \operatorname{cof}(Du_n)_{1j} \quad \text{is equi-integrable in } L^1(\Omega).$$

The second case of Theorem 3.8 proposes an alternative to the delicate weak continuity (3.72) with s:=N-1, obtained in [8] (Theorem 1), in which the strong convergence of u_n in $L^{\infty}(\Omega)^N$ is replaced by the weak convergence of $\text{Det}(Du_n)$ in $W^{-1,1}(\Omega)$ combined with the equi-integrability of ∇u_n^1 in the Lorentz space $L^{N-1,1}(\Omega)^N$. There is no link between these two sets of assumptions.

Proof of Theorem 3.8. First of all and similarly to the proof of Theorem 2.1, the regularity assumption $u \in W^{1,N}(\Omega)^N$ implies that the weak formulations (3.75) and (3.78) lead to the equality $\mu = \text{Det}(Du)$. It thus remains to treat the general case for s > N-1 and s = N-1.

The case: s > N - 1.

ßIn view of the classical weak continuity (3.71) we may restrict ourselves to the case $s \leq \frac{N^2}{N+1}$. Define $p := \frac{s}{N-1}$ and q := s. Let us check that the sequences of vector-valued functions $\eta_n := \nabla u_n^1$ and σ_n defined by

$$\sigma_n^i := \left[\operatorname{cof} \left(D u_n \right) \right]_{1i}, \quad \text{for } 1 \le i \le N.$$
 (3.79)

satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 2.1:

First, σ_n and η_n satisfy condition (2.2) with exponent $N' \in [p, q']$ since

$$p = \frac{s}{N-1} \le \frac{N^2}{N^2 - 1} \le N' \le \frac{N^2}{N^2 - N - 1} = \left(\frac{N^2}{N+1}\right)' \le s' = q'.$$

while p, q > 1 satisfy the inequality

$$\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = \frac{N}{s} < 1 + \frac{1}{N-1}.$$

Next, σ_n is divergence free and by the classical weak convergence of the Jacobian (see [22], Corollary 2.8) σ_n converges weakly in $L^p(\Omega)^N$ (since $p = \frac{s}{N-1}$) to the function $\sigma = (\sigma^1, \ldots, \sigma^N)$ given by

$$\sigma^{i} = \left[\operatorname{cof}\left(Du\right)\right]_{1i}, \quad \text{for } 1 \le i \le N. \tag{3.80}$$

Moreover, η_n is curl free and converges weakly to ∇u^1 in $L^q(\Omega)^N$. Therefore, taking into account convergence (3.73), Theorem 2.1 through (2.8) yields the desired limit formulation (3.75).

The case: p := 1 and q := N - 1.

ßLet us check that the sequences of vector-valued functions σ_n defined by (3.79) and $\eta_n := \nabla u_n^1$ satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 2.11:

As in the previous case σ_n and η_n satisfy condition (2.2) with s = N'. Next, σ_n is divergence free in Ω , and by the classical weak convergence of the Jacobian (see, [22], Corollary 2.8) σ_n converges weakly-* in $\mathcal{M}(\Omega)^N$ to the function σ defined by (3.80). Moreover, η_n is curl free and converges weakly to ∇u^1 in $L^{N-1}(\Omega)^N$. Therefore, taking into account conditions (3.73) and (3.77) Theorem 2.11 (see also Remark 2.12) applies and leads to the limit formulation (3.78), which concludes the proof.

The following example shows that Theorem 3.8 does not hold if we just assume that u_n converges weakly in $W^{1,N-1}(\Omega)$ for N > 2, or weakly-* in $BV(\Omega)$ if N = 2. We refer to [23] (Theorem 1) to an alternative counterexample with the critical space $W^{1,N^2/(N+1)}(\Omega)$ related to the weak continuity (3.71).

Example 3.10. Let $N \geq 2$, and let Ω be the cylinder $B'_1 \times (0,1)$, where B'_1 is the unit ball of \mathbb{R}^{N-1} . The points of Ω are denoted by (x', x_N) . We also use x' to denote a point of Ω whose last coordinate is zero.

Define in cylindrical coordinates the vector-valued function u_n in Ω by

$$u_n(x) := (1-r)^n (nx', x_N), \text{ for } x \in \Omega, \text{ where } r := |x'|.$$

Then, we have

$$Du'_{n} = -n (1-r)^{n-1} \left[n \frac{x' \otimes x'}{r} - (1-r) I_{N-1} \right],$$

$$\nabla u_{n}^{N} = (1-r)^{n-1} \left[-n \frac{x_{N} x'}{r} + (1-r) e_{N} \right].$$

Therefore, as a consequence of (2.81) we get that

$$\int_{\Omega} |Du_n|^{N-1} dx \le C n^{2N-2} \int_0^1 r^{2N-3} (1-r)^{(n-1)(N-1)} dr.$$

$$+ C n^{N-1} \int_0^1 r^{N-2} (1-r)^{(n-1)(N-1)} dr + C \le C.$$

This combined with the convergence of u_n to zero a.e. in Ω , implies that

$$\begin{cases} u_n \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} 0 \text{ in } BV(\Omega)^N & \text{if } N = 2\\ u_n \rightharpoonup 0 & \text{in } W^{1,N-1}(\Omega)^N & \text{if } N > 2. \end{cases}$$

On the other hand, it is easy to check that

$$Det (Du_n) = det (Du_n) = n^{N-1} (1-r)^{nN} - n^N r (1-r)^{nN-1} r.$$

Hence, again using (2.81) we conclude that

$$\operatorname{Det}(Du_n) \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} |S_{N-2}| \lim_{n \to \infty} \left[\int_0^1 \left(n^{N-1} r^{N-2} (1-r)^{nN} - n^N r^{N-1} (1-r)^{nN-1} \right) dr \right] \left(\delta_{\{x'=0\}} \otimes 1 \right) \\
= |S_{N-2}| \frac{(N-2)!}{N^N} \left(\delta_{\{x'=0\}} \otimes 1 \right) \neq 0 \quad (\text{with } |S_0| := 1).$$

Finally, note that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|u_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left[\max_{r \in [0,1]} \left\{ n \, r \, (1-r)^n \right\} \right] = \frac{1}{e} > 0,$$

which also illustrates the sharpness of the weak continuity result (3.72) in [8].

References

- [1] J.M. Ball: "Convexity conditions and existence theorems in nonlinear elasticity", Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 63 (1977), 337-403.
- [2] J.M. Ball & F. Murat: "W^{1,p}-quasiconvexity and variational problems for multiple integrals", J. Funct. Anal. **58** (3) (1984), 225-253.
- [3] M. Bellieud & G. Bouchitté: "Homogenization of elliptic problems in a fiber reinforced structure. Nonlocal effects", *Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci.*, **26** (4) (1998), 407-436.
- [4] A. Beurling & J. Deny: "Espaces de Dirichlet", Acta Matematica, 99 (1958), 203-224.
- [5] J. BOURGAIN & H. Brezis: "New estimates for elliptic equations and Hodge type systems", J. Eur. Math. Soc., 9 (2007), 277-315.
- [6] A. Braides: Γ-convergence for Beginners, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2002.
- [7] A. Braides, M. Briane, & J. Casado Díaz: "Homogenization of non-uniformly bounded periodic diffusion energies in dimension two", *Nonlinearity*, **22** (2009), 1459-1480.
- [8] H. Brezis & H. Nguyen: "The Jacobian determinant revisited", *Invent. Math.*, **185** (1) (2011), 17-54.
- [9] M. Briane: "Nonlocal effects in two-dimensional conductivity", Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal., 182 (2) (2006), 255-267.
- [10] M. Briane & M. Camar-Eddine: "Homogenization of two-dimensional elasticity problems with very stiff coefficients", J. Math. Pures Appl., 88 (2007), 483-505.
- [11] M. Briane & J. Casado Díaz: "Two-dimensional div-curl results. Application to the lack of nonlocal effects in homogenization", Com. Part. Diff. Equ., 32 (2007), 935-969.
- [12] M. Briane & J. Casado Díaz: "Asymptotic behavior of equicoercive diffusion energies in two dimension", Calc. Var. Part. Diff. Equa., 29 (4) (2007), 455-479.
- [13] M. Briane & J. Casado Díaz: "Homogenization of convex functionals which are weakly coercive and not equibounded from above", *Ann. I.H.P.* (C) Non Lin. Anal., **30** (4) (2013), 547-571.

- [14] M. Briane & J. Casado Díaz: "Homogenization of systems with equi-integrable coefficients", to appear in *ESAIM: COCV*.
- [15] M. BRIANE, J. CASADO DÍAZ & F. MURAT: "The div-curl lemma 'trente ans après': an extension and an application to the *G*-convergence of unbounded monotone operators", *J. Math. Pures Appl.*, **91** (2009), 476-494.
- [16] M. Briane & N. Tchou: "Fibered microstructures for some nonlocal Dirichlet forms", Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci., 30 (4) (2001), 681-711.
- [17] M. CAMAR-EDDINE & P. SEPPECHER: "Closure of the set of diffusion functionals with respect to the Mosco-convergence", *Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci.*, **12** (8) (2002), 1153-1176.
- [18] M. CAMAR-EDDINE & P. SEPPECHER: "Determination of the closure of the set of elasticity functionals", Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 170 (3) (2003), 211-245.
- [19] L. CARBONE & C. SBORDONE, "Some properties of Γ-limits of integral functionals", Ann. Mate. Pura Appl., 122 (1979), 1-60.
- [20] R. Coifman, P.L. Lions, Y. Meyer, S. Semmes: "Compensated compactness and Hardy spaces", J. Math. Pures Appl., 72 (3) (1993), 247-286.
- [21] S. CONTI, G. DOLZMANN & S. MÜLLER: "The div-curl lemma for sequences whose divergence and curl are compact in $W^{-1,1}$ ", C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, **349** (3-4) (2011), 175-178.
- [22] B. Dacorogna: Direct methods in the calculus of variations, Applied Mathematical Sciences 78, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1989, 308 pp.
- [23] B. Dacorogna & F. Murat: "An the optimality of certain Sobolev exponents for the weak continuity of determinants", J. Funct. Anal., 105 (1) (1992), 42-62.
- [24] G. Dal Maso: An introduction to Γ -convergence, Birkhaüser, Boston 1993.
- [25] G.A. Francfort: "Homogenisation of a class of fourth order equations with application to incompressible elasticity", *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A*, **120** (1-2) (1992), 25-46.
- [26] E. DE GIORGI: "Sulla convergenza di alcune successioni di integrali del tipo dell'area", Rend. Mat. Roma, 8 (1975), 277-294.
- [27] V.N. FENCHENKO & E.YA. KHRUSLOV: "Asymptotic of solution of differential equations with strongly oscillating matrix of coefficients which does not satisfy the condition of uniform boundedness", *Dokl. AN Ukr.SSR*, 4 (1981).
- [28] I. Fonseca, G. Leoni & J. Malí: "Weak continuity and lower semicontinuity results for determinants", Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 178 (3) (2005), 411-448.
- [29] E.YA. KHRUSLOV: "Homogenized models of composite media", Composite Media and Homogenization Theory, ed. by G. Dal Maso and G.F. Dell'Antonio, in Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and Their Applications, Birkhaüser (1991), 159-182.
- [30] T. IWANIEC & C. SBORDONE: "On the integrability of the Jacobian under minimal hypotheses", Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 119 (2) (1992), 129-143.

- [31] J.L. LIONS: Quelques méthodes de résolution de problèmes aux limites non linéaires, Dunod, Gauthiers-Villars, Paris 1969, pp. 554.
- [32] J.J. Manfredi: "Weakly monotone functions", J. Geom. Anal., 4 (3) (1994), 393-402.
- [33] C.B. Morrey: Multiple integrals in the calculus of variations, Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Springer-Verlag New York, 1966, pp. 506.
- [34] U. Mosco: "Composite media and asymptotic Dirichlet forms", J. Func. Anal., 123 (2) (1994), 368-421.
- [35] S. MÜLLER: "Det = det. A remark on the distributional determinant", C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 311 (1) (1990), 13-17.
- [36] F. Murat: "H-convergence", Séminaire d'Analyse Fonctionnelle et Numérique, 1977-78, Université d'Alger, multicopied, 34 pp. English translation: F. Murat & L. Tartar, "H-convergence", Topics in the Mathematical Modelling of Composite Materials, ed. by L. Cherkaev & R.V. Kohn, Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, 31, Birkaüser, Boston (1998), 21-43.
- [37] F. Murat: "Compacité par compensation", Ann. Scuola. Norm. Sup. Pisa, Serie IV, 5 (3) (1978), 489-507.
- [38] C. Pideri & P. Seppecher, "A second gradient material resulting from the homogenization of an heterogeneous linear elastic medium", *Continuum Mech. and Thermodyn.*, 9 (5) (1997), 241-257.
- [39] Yu.G. Reshetnyak: "On the stability of conformal mappings in multidimensional spaces", Siber. Math. J., 8 (1) (1967), 69-85.
- [40] J. SIMON: "Compact sets in the space $L^p(0,T;B)$ ", Ann. Mat. Pura Appl., **146** (4) (1987), 65-96.
- [41] G. Stampacchia: "Le problème de Dirichlet pour les équations elliptiques du second ordre à coefficients discontinus" (French), Ann. Inst. Fourier, 15 (1) (1965), 189-258.
- [42] S. SPAGNOLO: "Sulla convergenza di soluzioni di equazioni paraboliche ed ellittiche", Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci., 22 (3) (1968), 571-597.
- [43] L. Tartar: "Compensated compactness and applications to partial differential equations", Nonlinear Analysis and Mechanics, Heriot Watt Symposium IV, Pitman, San Francisco (1979), 136-212.
- [44] L. Tartar: An introduction to Sobolev spaces and interpolation spaces, Lecture Notes of the Unione Matematica Italiana, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg 2007, pp. 218.
- [45] L. Tartar: The General Theory of Homogenization: A Personalized Introduction, Lecture Notes of the Unione Matematica Italiana, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg 2009, pp. 471.